

# Guideline 7-21 REQUIRES UPDATING

# A Quality Initiative of the Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC), Cancer Care Ontario (CCO)

# Radiotherapy with Curative Intent in Patients with Early Stage, Medically Inoperable, Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer

C. B. Falkson, E. Vella, E. Yu, M. El-Mallah, Y. C. Ung, P. M. Ellis, R. Mackenzie, and the Lung Cancer Disease Site Group

An assessment conducted in November 2021 indicated that Guideline 7-21 REQUIRES UPDATING. It is still appropriate for this document to be available while this updating process unfolds. The PEBC has a formal and standardized process to ensure the currency of each document (<u>PEBC Assessment & Review Protocol</u>)

Guideline 7-21 is comprised of 5 sections. You can access the summary and full report here:

https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/31811

Section 1:	Guideline Recommendations
Section 2:	Recommendations and Key Evidence
Section 3:	Guideline Methods Overview
Section 4:	Systematic Review
Section 5:	Internal and External Review

## Report Date: May 4, 2016

For information about this document, please contact Dr. C. Falkson, the lead author, through the PEBC via:

Phone: 905-527-4322 ext. 42822 Fax: 905 526-6775 E-mail: ccopgi@mcmaster.ca

For information about the PEBC and the most current version of all reports, please visit the CCO website at http://www.cancercare.on.ca/ or contact the PEBC office at: Phone: 905-527-4322 ext. 42822 Fax: 905 526-6775 E-mail: <u>ccopgi@mcmaster.ca</u> **PEBC Report Citation (Vancouver Style)**: Falkson CB, Vella E, Yu E, El-Mallah M, Ung YC, Ellis PM, Mackenzie R. Radiotherapy with curative intent in patients with early stage, medically inoperable, non-small cell lung cancer. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2016 May 4 [Requires Updating 2021 Nov]. Program in Evidence-based Care Evidence-based Series No.: 7-21 REQUIRES UPDATING.

Journal Citation (Vancouver Style): Falkson CB, Vella ET, Yu E, El-Mallah M, Mackenzie R, Ellis PM, Ung YC. Guideline for radiotherapy with curative intent in patients with early-stage medically inoperable non-small-cell lung cancer. Curr Oncol. 2017 Feb;24(1):e44-e49. doi: 10.3747/co.24.3358.

Falkson CB, Vella ET, Yu E, El-Mallah M, Mackenzie R, Ellis PM, Ung YC. Radiotherapy With Curative Intent in Patients With Early-stage, Medically Inoperable, Non-Small-cell Lung Cancer: A Systematic Review. Clin Lung Cancer. 2017 Mar;18(2):105-121.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2016.10.008.

#### Copyright

This report is copyrighted by Cancer Care Ontario; the report and the illustrations herein may not be reproduced without the express written permission of Cancer Care Ontario. Cancer Care Ontario reserves the right at any time, and at its sole discretion, to change or revoke this authorization.

#### Disclaimer

Care has been taken in the preparation of the information contained in this report. Nevertheless, any person seeking to consult the report or apply its recommendations is expected to use independent medical judgment in the context of individual clinical circumstances or to seek out the supervision of a qualified clinician. Cancer Care Ontario makes no representations or guarantees of any kind whatsoever regarding the report content or its use or application and disclaims any responsibility for its use or application in any way.

# **Table of Contents**

Section 1: Recommendations	1
Section 2: Guideline - Recommendations and Key Evidence	3
Section 3: Guideline Methods Overview	6
Section 4: Systematic Review	9
Section 5: Internal and External Review	37
References	43
Appendix 1: Affiliations and Conflict of Interest Declarations	49
Appendix 2: Literature Search Strategy	53
Appendix 3: PRISMA Flow Diagram	55
Appendix 4. Quality of Included Studies	56

# Radiotherapy with Curative Intent in Patients with Early Stage, Medically Inoperable, Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer

# Section 1: Recommendations

This section is a quick reference guide and provides the guideline recommendations only. For key evidence associated with each recommendation, see <u>Section 2</u>.

#### **GUIDELINE OBJECTIVES**

To investigate the effectiveness of radiotherapy with curative intent in patients with early stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) who are medically inoperable.

#### TARGET POPULATION

Adult patients with potentially curable, early stage (Stage I or II) NSCLC (without nodal involvement or metastases), and who are deemed medically inoperable or refuse surgery.

#### INTENDED USERS

Radiation planning and treatment providers, oncologists, thoracic surgeons, respirologists, diagnostic assessment groups, and other healthcare providers involved with lung cancer.

NOTE: Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) and stereotactic ablative radiation therapy are considered synonymous for the purposes of this guideline and will be referred to as SBRT from this point on.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

#### **Recommendation 1**

SBRT with curative intent is an option that should be considered for patients with early stage, node-negative, medically inoperable NSCLC.

#### Qualifying Statements for Recommendation 1

- The planning process and treatment delivery for SBRT require the use of advanced technology to maintain an appropriate level of safety due to the high dose per fraction. Consistent patient positioning and four-dimensional analysis of tumour and critical structure motion during simulation and treatment delivery are essential.
- Preliminary results for proton beam therapy have been promising but require further clinical studies. More randomized controlled trials are required.

## Recommendation 2

Recommended fractionation schemes for SBRT should have a  $BED_{10(LQ)}$  of  $\geq 100.^{1}$ 

#### Qualifying Statements for Recommendation 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> BED = biological effective dose; LQ = linear quadratic

• Tumour size and proximity to critical central<sup>2</sup> structures [1] requires consideration when determining the dose fractionation due to increased risk of treatment-related adverse events associated with centrally located tumours.

Location	Total dose (Gy)/# of fractions	BED <sub>10</sub>
Peripheral	60/3	180
	54/3	151.2
	55/5	115.5
	48/4	105.6
	66/3	211.2
	60/5	132
Central	50/5	100
	48/4	105.6
	60/8	105

• *Examples* of dose/fractionation schemes used in the studies included (see Table 4-2):

- Evidence showed consistent tumour control and survival outcomes using the above schedules. Ongoing trials may yield new evidence regarding optimal stereotactic dosing schedules and recommended doses different than those listed above.
- Based on the current evidence and the opinion of the authors, radiation doses of BED<sub>10(LQ)</sub> >146 may significantly increase toxicity and should be avoided.
- Although the use of radiation dosages expressed as a biological effective dose has been advocated, it is important to understand the limitations of determining radiation BED using the linear quadratic model for the extreme-hypofractionated schemes used in SBRT.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 2}$  Central tumours refer to tumours within a 2 cm radius of the distal trachea and proximal bronchial tree.

# Radiotherapy with Curative Intent in Patients with Early Stage, Medically Inoperable, Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer

# Section 2: Guideline - Recommendations and Key Evidence

### **GUIDELINE OBJECTIVES**

To investigate the effectiveness of radiotherapy with curative intent in patients with early stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) who are medically inoperable.

## TARGET POPULATION

Adult patients with potentially curable, early stage (Stage I or II) NSCLC (without nodal involvement or metastases), and who are deemed medically inoperable or refuse surgery.

#### INTENDED USERS

Radiation planning and treatment providers, oncologists, thoracic surgeons, respirologists, diagnostic assessment groups, and other healthcare providers involved with lung cancer.

NOTE: Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) and stereotactic ablative radiation therapy are considered synonymous for the purposes of this guideline and will be referred to as SBRT from this point on.

## RECOMMENDATIONS, KEY EVIDENCE, AND INTERPRETATION OF EVIDENCE

Recommendation '	1
------------------	---

SBRT with curative intent is an option that should be considered for patients with early stage, node-negative, medically inoperable NSCLC.

#### Qualifying Statements for Recommendation 1

- The planning process and treatment delivery for SBRT requires the use of advanced technology to maintain an appropriate level of safety due to the high dose per fraction. Consistent patient positioning and four-dimensional analysis of tumour and critical structure motion during simulation and treatment delivery are essential.
- Preliminary results for proton beam therapy have been promising but require further clinical studies. More randomized controlled trials are required.

## Key Evidence for Recommendation 1

There were no randomized trials comparing SBRT with other forms of radiotherapy or observation. One meta-analysis of non-comparative studies [2] and eight comparative retrospective cohort studies [3-10] compared radiotherapy with observation or other forms of radiotherapy such as accelerated hypofractionated radiation therapy, three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy, conventional fractionated radiation therapy, external beam radiation therapy, and proton beam therapy and carbon ion therapy. The evidence was considered to be very low quality due the potential increase in risk of bias associated with retrospective designs. However, all of the studies consistently demonstrated that SBRT had similar or better effects on survival or local control compared with observation or alternative radiotherapy techniques. The meta-analysis by Grutters et al. (2010) found that conventional radiotherapy had lower two-year (53%, 95% confidence interval [CI], 46% to 60%) and five-year (20%, 95% CI, 15% to 24%) overall survival rates and lower two-year (67%, 95% CI, 59% to 76%) and five-year (44%, 95% CI, 31% to 56%) disease-specific survival rates compared with

SBRT (two-year overall survival: 70%, 95% CI, 63% to 77%, p<0.001; five-year overall survival: 42%, 95% CI, 34% to 50%, p<0.001; two-year disease-specific survival: 83%, 95% CI, 75% to 92%, p=0.006; five-year disease-specific survival: 63%, 95% CI, 50% to 75%, p=0.045) [2].

Interpretation of Evidence for Recommendation 1

Although the evidence was from retrospective cohort studies, the consistency of the results led the Working Group to believe that the potential benefits in overall survival and local control with SBRT compared with observation and other radiotherapies, especially older conventional therapy treatments, outweighed the potential harms associated with SBRT for medically inoperable patients with early stage NSCLC. Therefore, they considered SBRT to be a recommended treatment option for this patient population.

#### Recommendation 2

Recommended fractionation schemes for SBRT should have a  $BED_{10(LQ)}$  of  $\geq 100.^3$ 

Qualifying Statements for Recommendation 2

- Tumour size and proximity to critical central<sup>4</sup> structures require consideration when determining the dose fractionation due to increased risk of treatment-related adverse events associated with centrally located tumours.
- **Examples** of dose fractionation schemes used in the studies included (see Table 4-2):

Location	Total dose (Gy)/# of fractions	BED <sub>10</sub>
Peripheral	60/3	180
	54/3	151.2
	55/5	115.5
	48/4	105.6
	66/3	211.2
	60/5	132
Central	50/5	100
	48/4	105.6
	60/8	105

- Evidence showed consistent tumour control and survival outcomes using the above schedules. Ongoing trials may yield new evidence regarding optimal stereotactic dosing schedules and recommended doses different than those listed above.
- Based on the current evidence and the opinion of the authors, radiation doses of  $BED_{10(LQ)} > 146$  may significantly increase toxicity and should be avoided.
- Although the use of radiation dosages expressed as a biological effective dose has been advocated, it is important to understand the limitations of determining radiation BED using the linear quadratic model for the extreme-hypofractionated schemes used in SBRT.

## Key Evidence for Recommendation 2

Twelve retrospective observational studies investigated the most appropriate BED cut off associated with patient outcomes [11-22]. Again, these studies were considered to be very low quality due to their retrospective designs. A meta-regression by Zhang 2011, found a significant overall survival benefit at two years and three years with the delivery of medium BED (83.2 to 106 - two-year: 76%, 95% CI, 62% to 92%; three-year: 64%, 95% CI, 57% to 71%)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> BED = biological effective dose; LQ = linear quadratic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Central tumour refers to tumours within a 2 cm radius of the distal trachea and proximal bronchial tree 1. Timmerman R, McGarry R, Yiannoutsos C, Papiez L, Tudor K, DeLuca J, et al. Excessive Toxicity When Treating Central Tumors in a Phase II Study of Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Medically Inoperable Early-Stage Lung Cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(30):4833-9..

or medium to high BED (106 to 146 - two-year: 68%, 95% CI, 61% to 76%; three-year: 63%, 95% CI, 56% to 71%) compared with high BED (>146 - two-year: 56%, 95% CI, 50% to 63%, p<0.001; three-year: 50%, 95% CI, 43% to 57%, p<0.001) or low BED (<83.2) at three years only (three-year: 52%, 95% CI, 44% to 62%, p<0.005) [23]. The occurrence of severe adverse events of grades 3 to 5 was only significantly different between the low and high BED groups. This suggested that medium or medium to high doses may be the most optimal dose ranges. The cut-off, however, was difficult to determine. Several studies suggested a cut-off of approximately 100 BED was significantly correlated with patient outcomes [11,13-16,20]; however, other studies, including the Zhang 2011 meta-regression, did not show this association [12,18,19,21,23].

#### Interpretation of Evidence for Recommendation 2

Although there was variability in results using a BED cut-off of approximately 100, the largest studies suggested that a BED close to 100 was associated with overall survival and local control [11,13-16,20]. The Working Group believed that recommending a minimal BED threshold would maximize the beneficial outcomes associated with SBRT without increasing harm. They chose to use 100 as the BED threshold because most of the larger cohort studies found associations with patient outcomes with BED cut-offs of 100, 105, and 106 [11,13-16,20]. They selected the lowest value since the Zhang 2011 meta-analysis found that medium values between 83.2 and 106 had significantly better survival compared with lower doses [23].

Many of the included studies assigned doses based on the size and location of the tumour. This was based on a study by Timmerman in 2006 that suggested that an increase in the damage to critical structures and incidence of serious adverse events and toxicity had been found in patients with centrally located tumours when higher dose fractionation schemes were used [1]. Delivering lower doses with a minimum of 100 BED to central tumours did not predict inferior overall survival, local control, or increased toxicity compared with peripheral tumours [24]. Therefore, these factors should be taken into consideration when deciding on the dose or fractionation schedule.

Although the Working Group advocated the use of radiation doses expressed as a BED, it is important to understand the limitations of determining radiation BED using the linear quadratic model for the extreme-hypofractionated schemes used in SBRT. The linear quadratic model has been used as a convenient, slightly simplified, model to calculate effective dose when treating tumours with conventional fractionated radiation therapy. At such high-dose fractions, other models of tissue injury have been suggested [25-27]. As such, users should exercise caution when using BED models in comparing different SBRT schemes.

#### IMPLEMENTATION CONSIDERATIONS

The Working Group considered these recommendations to be the current standard of care and thus would be feasible to implement. They believe the outcomes valued in this guideline would align with patient values and that patients would view these recommendations as acceptable.

#### **RELATED GUIDELINES**

- 7-18 Positron Emission Tomography in Radiation Treatment Planning for Lung Cancer.
- 7-12 Altered Fractionation of Radical Radiation Therapy in the Management of Unresectable Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer.

# Radiotherapy with Curative Intent in Patients with Early Stage, Medically Inoperable, Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer

# Section 3: Guideline Methods Overview

This section summarizes the methods used to create the guideline. For the systematic review, see <u>Section 4</u>.

#### THE PROGRAM IN EVIDENCE-BASED CARE

The Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC) is an initiative of the Ontario provincial cancer system, Cancer Care Ontario (CCO). The PEBC mandate is to improve the lives of Ontarians affected by cancer through the development, dissemination, and evaluation of evidence-based products designed to facilitate clinical, planning, and policy decisions about cancer control.

The PEBC supports the work of Guideline Development Groups (GDGs) in the development of various PEBC products. The GDGs are composed of clinicians, other healthcare providers and decision makers, methodologists, and community representatives from across the province.

The PEBC is a provincial initiative of CCO supported by the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (OMHLTC). All work produced by the PEBC is editorially independent from the OMHLTC.

#### GUIDELINE DEVELOPERS

This guideline was developed by the Radiation with Curative Intent in Medically Inoperable Patients with Non-small Cell Lung Cancer GDG (Appendix 1), which was convened at the request of the Radiation treatment program along with the Lung Disease Site Group.

The project was led by a small Working Group of the Radiation with Curative Intent in Medically Inoperable Patients with Non-small Cell Lung Cancer GDG, which was responsible for reviewing the evidence base, drafting the guideline recommendations, and responding to comments received during the document review process. The Working Group had expertise in radiation oncology, medical oncology, and health research methodology. Other members of the Radiation with Curative Intent in Medically Inoperable Patients with Non-small Cell Lung Cancer GDG served as the Expert Panel and were responsible for the review and approval of the draft document produced by the Working Group. Conflict of interest declarations for all GDG members are summarized in Appendix 1, and were managed in accordance with the <u>PEBC Conflict of Interest Policy</u>.

#### GUIDELINE DEVELOPMENT METHODS

The PEBC produces evidence-based and evidence-informed guidance documents using the methods of the Practice Guidelines Development Cycle [28,29]. This process includes a systematic review, interpretation of the evidence by the Working Group who then draft recommendations based on the evidence and expert consensus, internal review by content and methodology experts, and external review by Ontario clinicians and other stakeholders.

The PEBC uses the AGREE II framework [30] as a methodological strategy for guideline development. AGREE II is a 23-item validated tool that is designed to assess the methodological rigour and transparency of guideline development.

The currency of each document is ensured through periodic review and evaluation of the scientific literature and, where appropriate, the addition of newer literature

to the original evidence base. This is described in the <u>PEBC Document Assessment and Review</u> <u>Protocol</u>. PEBC guideline recommendations are based on clinical evidence, and not on feasibility of implementation; however, a list of implementation considerations such as costs, human resources, and unique requirements for special or disadvantaged populations is provided along with the recommendations for information purposes. PEBC guideline development methods are described in more detail in the <u>PEBC Handbook</u> and the <u>PEBC Methods Handbook</u>.

#### Search for Existing Guidelines

A search for existing guidelines is generally undertaken prior to searching for existing systematic reviews or primary literature. This is done with the goal of identifying existing guidelines for adaptation, using the ADAPTE framework [31], or endorsement in order to avoid the duplication of guideline development efforts across jurisdictions. For this project, the following sources were searched for existing guidelines that addressed the research questions:

- Practice guideline databases: the Standards and Guidelines Evidence Directory of Cancer Guidelines (SAGE), National Guideline Clearinghouse, and Inventory of Cancer Guidelines.
- Guideline developer websites: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN), American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO), and National Comprehensive Cancer Network.

Only guidelines published in English after 2008 were considered. Guidelines that were considered relevant to the objectives and the research questions were then evaluated for quality using the AGREE II instrument [30]. This search yielded five practice guidelines [18,32-35]. The Working Group decided that proceeding with a new systematic review that included the latest research was warranted due to the relatively frequent release of information and a need to focus on treatment. Existing guidelines were either not up to date, or addressed a broader scope than was required by this treatment guideline.

#### **GUIDELINE REVIEW AND APPROVAL**

#### Internal Review

For the guideline document to be approved, 75% of the content experts who comprise the GDG Expert Panel must cast a vote indicating whether or not they approve the document, or abstain from voting for a specified reason, and of those that vote, 75% must approve the document. In addition, the PEBC Report Approval Panel (RAP), a three-person panel with methodology expertise, must unanimously approve the document. The Expert Panel and RAP members may specify that approval is conditional, and that changes to the document are required. If substantial changes are subsequently made to the recommendations during external review, then the revised draft must be resubmitted for approval by RAP and the GDG Expert Panel.

#### **External Review**

Feedback on the approved draft guideline is obtained from content experts and the target users through two processes. Through the Targeted Peer Review, several individuals with content expertise are identified by the GDG and asked to review and provide feedback on the guideline document. Through Professional Consultation, relevant care providers and other potential users of the guideline are contacted and asked to provide feedback on the guideline recommendations through a brief online survey. This consultation is intended to facilitate the dissemination of the final guidance report to Ontario practitioners.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Radiation with Curative Intent in Medically Inoperable Patients with Non-small Cell Lung Cancer GDG would like to thank the following individuals for their assistance in developing this report:

- Melissa Brouwers, Patrick Cheung, Sheila McNair, Hans Messersmith, Gunita Mitera, Gordon Okawara, Raymond Poon, Kenneth Schneider, Marko Simunovic, Cindy Walker-Dilks, Pardraig Warde, and Eric Winquist for providing feedback on draft versions.
- Andrea Bezjak for participating on the Working Group of this guideline in the early stages of development.
- Terence Tang for conducting a data audit.
- Sara Miller for copy editing.

# Radiotherapy with Curative Intent in Patients with Early Stage, Medically Inoperable, Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer

# Section 4: Systematic Review

#### INTRODUCTION

Lung cancer is the third most common cancer in both men and women in Canada (14%) [36]. Lung cancer represented 13% of the 65,000 cancer cases diagnosed in 2009 in Ontario [37]. In Ontario, there were 8211 new cases reported in 2009 [37]. Despite a significant overall decline in cancer mortality rates, lung cancer remained the leading cause of cancer death with a relative five-year survival of 17% and a mortality rate of 40.2/100,000 person-years in 2015 in Canada [36]. An estimated 20,900 related deaths occurred due to lung cancer in 2015 in Canada [36].

Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) is the most prevalent type of lung cancer [37]. Surgical resection of early stage (Stage I, II) NCSLC is the standard against which other treatments are measured. A subset of these patients is unable to tolerate surgery because of their age or medical comorbidities [38]. These include abnormal underlying cardiovascular and/or pulmonary function. These patients were previously offered conventional radiotherapy (60 to 66 Gy in 1.8 to 2.0 Gy fractions) or were observed without specific cancer therapy. Outcomes for each of these approaches have not been ideal, with two-year survival less than 40% with either conventional radiation and observation, and local control of only 40% to 50% with conventional radiation therapy [39,40].

Stereotactic radiation therapy is a high-precision radiation delivery technique of a few (or even single) high-dose fractions to small targets or volume of disease. It is characterized by a steep dose-gradient beyond the target volume and as such, accuracy and precision of treatment planning and delivery become critical. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) and stereotactic ablative radiation therapy are considered synonymous for the purposes of this guideline and will be referred to as SBRT from this point on.

Because the outcomes for patients with early stage NSCLC who were observed or were given conventional radiation have not been ideal, the objective of this guideline was to investigate the effectiveness of radiotherapy with curative intent in patients with early stage NSCLC who are medically inoperable. In order to make recommendations as part of a clinical practice guideline on the use of radiotherapy with curative intent, the Radiation Treatment Program, together with the Lung Cancer Disease Site Group, developed this evidentiary base. Based on the objectives of the guideline, the Working Group derived the research questions outlined below.

#### **RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

- 1. What is the effectiveness of radiotherapy with curative intent in patients with early stage NSCLC who are unable to undergo surgery?
- 2. What are the most effective dose/fractionation schedules for curative intent radiotherapy?

#### METHODS

The Program in Evidence-Based Care produces evidence-based and evidence-informed guidance documents using the methods of the Practice Guidelines Development Cycle [29]. This evidentiary base was developed using a planned two-stage method, summarized here and described in more detail below.

- 1. Search and evaluation of existing systematic reviews: If one or more existing systematic reviews were identified that addressed the research questions, then those systematic reviews were included in the evidentiary base.
- 2. Systematic review of the primary literature: This search would focus on those areas not covered by existing systematic reviews.

#### Search for Existing Systematic Reviews

A search for systematic reviews was carried out on the topic of radiation treatment with curative intent in patients with medically inoperable NSCLC. This search was conducted within the Cochrane library, MEDLINE, and EMBASE databases from January 1985 to July 2015. Systematic reviews were included if they addressed either of the research questions and reported on the sources searched. *A priori*, the Working Group decided that the main comparison would be SBRT against other forms of radiotherapy; therefore, the systematic reviews had to focus on SBRT and either compare it with other radiotherapies or examine the most appropriate dose or fractionation schemes for SBRT. Results were limited to articles published in English. Identified systematic reviews were assessed using the AMSTAR tool [41].

#### Search for Primary Literature Literature Search Strategy

The literature was searched using MEDLINE (1985 through July 16, 2015), EMBASE (1985 through July 16, 2015), the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (OVID CDSR: March 2014), the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (OVID CCTR: April 2014), and the Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (OVID DARE: 1<sup>st</sup> quarter 2014). In addition, the proceedings of the meetings of the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO: 2007 to 2014), the American Society of Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology (ASTRO: 2007 to 2013), and the European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology (ESTRO: 2007 to 2014) were searched for relevant abstracts. Reference lists of studies deemed eligible for inclusion were scanned for additional citations.

The literature search of the electronic databases combined disease-specific terms (lung carcinoma, non-small cell lung cancer, NSCLC, etc.) along with disease stage-specific terms (early stage, medically inoperable) and treatment-specific terms (radiation, stereotactic, hypofractionation) for all study designs (Appendix 2).

## Study Selection Criteria and Process

#### Inclusion Criteria

Articles were eligible for inclusion in this systematic review if they met the following criteria:

- 1. Studies included full reports or abstracts of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) or other comparative trials with more than 50 participants. Interventions considered were stereotactic radiation treatment with curative intent compared with observation or other types of radiotherapy for early stage, medically inoperable, NSCLC. Comparisons between radiation dosing or fractionation schedules for SBRT were included.
- 2. Studies included patients with a tumour size less than 5 cm (i.e., T1 or T2a), nodenegative (i.e., N0), medically inoperable NSCLC.
- 3. Studies reported data on survival, local control, adverse events, or quality of life.

#### Exclusion Criteria:

- 1. Interventions were combined with limited surgery or chemotherapy.
- 2. Radiation therapy was not used with curative intent or as second-line treatment.

A review of the titles and abstracts that resulted from the search was conducted by one reviewer (EV). For those items that warranted full-text review, one reviewer (EV) reviewed each item in collaboration with a second reviewer (EY, YU, PE, CF, ME) if uncertainty existed.

#### Data Extraction and Assessment of Study Quality and Potential for Bias

All eligible studies underwent data extraction independently by a research methodologist (EV), with all extracted data and information subsequently audited by an independent auditor. Ratios, including hazard ratios (HR), were expressed such that a ratio <1.0 indicated a survival benefit favouring non-stereotactic radiation therapy; conversely, a survival benefit that favoured patients treated with stereotactic radiation therapy was expressed by a HR >1.0.

An assessment of study quality was performed for all the included primary literature by one methodologist (EV). Cohort studies were assessed using A Cochrane Risk Of Bias Assessment Tool: for Non-Randomized Studies of Interventions (ACROBAT-NRSI) [42].

#### Synthesizing the Evidence

A meta-analysis was not planned because of the variability in dose and fractionation schedules and the inconsistent SBRT procedures due to evolving technologies in the field.

#### RESULTS

#### Search for Existing Systematic Reviews

Thirteen systematic reviews were considered for inclusion [2,23,25,26,43-51]. Two were excluded because they were abstracts only [43,47]. Although the 11 remaining reviews had different inclusion criteria, two reviews were included because they performed meta-analysis using non-comparative data [2,23]. Their results could be used to support or refute conclusions drawn from the comparative data from the primary literature. Two other reviews were included because they examined the most appropriate metrics to use when comparing the dosage effects of SBRT on patient outcomes [25,26]. The evidence from the primary literature compared different dose schedules; however, there are several ways to calculate dose and these two reviews compared different dose formulae. One review included recommendations; however, only the highlights from their systematic review were presented and the full document was available only in French. Therefore, this review was used only as a source for references [45].

# Search for Primary Literature

#### Literature Search Results

A total of 7944 English and foreign-language studies were identified. Seven hundred fifty-five were selected for full-text review. Of those, 52 met the pre-defined eligibility criteria for this systematic review (Tables 4-1 and 4-2) [3-22,52-83]. In some cases, patients that refused surgery or had tumours larger than five centimeters with early stage NSCLC were included in the study. The percentage of these patients was included in the evidence tables if reported. The search flow diagram is available in Appendix 3.

Study	Study design	Treatment type	Sample size	Median/mean age (range)	Fraction dose (Gy)	Fraction number	Total dose	Overall treatment time (weeks)	% tumour s <5 cm or ≤T2a	% medically inoperabl e	Median f/u in months (range)
Borst 2009 [3]	Retro	SBRT	128	NR	6-12	4-8	35-60	NR	NR	NR	16.1
		CFRT	142	NR	2-2.25	27-42	60.8- 94.5	NR	NR	NR	13.0
Jeppesen 2013 [4]	Retro	SBRT	100	73.3 (52-88)	15-22	3	45-66	1.3	NR	100	35.4 (8.8-90.5)
		Conventional radiation	32	70.4 (51-87)	2-2.29	35-40	80	7-8	NR	100	129 (16.9-173)
Koshy 2015	Retro	SBRT	773	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	21 (11-43)
[5]		Conventional radiation	5375	NR	1.8-2	NR	60	NR	NR	NR	
		Observation	6888	NR	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	
Lanni 2011 [6]	Retro	SBRT	45	76 (63-90)	12	4-5	48-60	NR	97.8 (1NR)	100	36
		EBRT	41	76 (53-85)	NR	23-47	29-70	NR	97.6 (1NR)	100	
Lucas 2014 [7]	Retro	SBRT	81	74 (66-78)	8-20	2-5	36-60	NR	100	94	29.4 (11.6-40.4)
		AHRT	79	69 (65-79)	2.25-4.11	17-30	60-72.3	NR	84.7	76	19 (8.5-34.2)
Shirvani	Retro	SBRT	124	75	NR	NR	NR	NR	100	NR	38.4
2012 [8]		Conventional radiation	1613		NR	NR	NR	NR	100	NR	
		Sublobar resection	1277		NR	NR	NR	NR	100	NR	
		Lobectomy	6531		NR	NR	NR	NR	100	NR	
		Observation	1378		NR	NR	NR	NR	100	NR	
Tong 2015	Retro	SBRT	30	74.7 (66-83)	14-20	3	42-60	NR	100	100	12
[9]	-	3D-CRT	38	75.7 (65-82)	2	30	60	6	100	100	
Widder 2011 [10]	Pro SBRT	SBRT	202	76 (46-93)	7.5-20	3-8	60	NR	NR	100	13
	with histori cal 3D- CRT cohort	3D-CRT	27	71 (47-82)	2	35	70	NR	100	100	

Table 4-1. Studies selected for inclusion comparing SBRT with other radiotherapy regimens or observation.

Abbreviations: AHRT, accelerated hypofractionated radiation therapy; 3D-CRT, three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy; CFRT, conventional fractionated radiation therapy; EBRT, external beam radiation therapy; f/u, follow-up; NA, not applicable; NR, not reported; pro, prospective; retro, retrospective; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy

Table 4-2.	Studies selected f	or inclusion to a	advise on the n	nost effective (	dose/fractionatior	n schedules,	,

Study	Study design	Doses & selection	Median/mean	Overall treatment time	% tumours < 5 cm or <t2a< th=""><th>% medically</th><th>Median f/u in months (range)</th></t2a<>	% medically	Median f/u in months (range)
Allibhai 2013 [52]	Pro	For tumours ≤3 cm: 48 Gy in 4 For tumours >3 cm: 54- 60 Gy in 3 For tumours <2 cm adjacent to mediastinum: 60 Gy in 8 or 50 Gy in 10 (185)	74.8	1.5	97.3	100	15.2 (6-76)
Barriger 2012 [53]	Retro	24-72 Gy in 3-5 (143)	74 (45-100)	NR	NR	100	17 (0.3-89)
Baumann 2006 [54]	Retro	30-48 Gy in 2-4 (138)	74 (56-90)	NR	NR	96	33 (1-107)
Bongers 2011 [55]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 60 Gy in 3 For broad contact with chest wall: 60 Gy in 5 For central tumours: 60 Gy in 8 (500)	74 (42-92)	NR	100	75	33 (13-86)
Bradley 2010 [56]	Pro	For peripheral tumours: mean 54 Gy in 3 For central tumours: mean 45 Gy in 5 (91)	71 (31-93)	1-1.4	63.7 (22 NR; 6 with T1N0M1)	91.2	18 (6-42)
Chang 2014 [57]	Retro	For central tumours: 50 Gy in 4 (82) or 70 Gy in 10 (18)	73 (50-93)	NR	80.2 (19.8 NR; 19% had isolated recurrence)	NR	30.6 (9.4-92.6)
Chang 2012 [58]	Retro	50 Gy in 4 (130)	74 (48-91)	0.6	100	74	26 (6-78)
Davis 2015 [11]	Retro	Median 54 Gy in 3 (723)	76 (41-95)	NR	70 (30 NR)	67	12 (1-87)
Factor 2014 [12]	Retro	For central tumours: Mainly 48 Gy in 4 For peripheral tumours: Mainly 60 Gy in 3 (74)	78.5 (56-93)	0.6	100	NR	For local control: 14.4 For overall survival: 18.8

Study	Study design	Doses & selection criteria (sample size)	Median/mean age (range)	Overall treatment time (weeks)	% tumours < 5 cm or ≤T2a	% medically inoperable	Median f/u in months (range)
Fischer- Valuck 2013 [59]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 60 Gy in 5 (49) For central tumours: 48 Gy in 4 (13)	72.6 (27-92)	Median 1.1 (range, 0.1-3.9)	70.9 (29.1 NR)	NR	28 (4-78)
Grills 2012 [13]	Retro	Ranged from 20 Gy in 1 to 64 Gy in 8, see paper for details (483); dose based on location	74 (42-92)	NR	NR; 1 had local recurrence	87	15.6 (1.2-87.6)
Guckenber ger 2013 [14]	Retro	Median 37.5 Gy (range, 12.0-64.0) in 3 (range, 1-20) (582); dose based on tumour size and location	72.2 (30.9- 92.4)	NR	100	NR	Mean 21.4 (NR- 144)
Guckenber ger 2013 [60]	Retro	18-64 Gy in 1-15 (191)	76 (45-93)	NR	99.5	NR	NR
Hayashi 2014 [61]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 48 Gy in 4 (60) For central tumours: 60 Gy in 10 (21)	80 (64-93)	2-3	100	75	29 (5-84)
Hoppe 2008 [62]	Retro	60 Gy in 3 (36), 44-48 Gy in 4 (14)	79 (60-94)	NR	100	NR	6 (3-18)
Inoue 2013 [63]	Retro	48 Gy in 4 (30), 45 to 50 Gy in 4 (79); dose based on tumour size	78 (47-90)	0.6-1	72.5 (27.5 NR)	NR	25 (4-72)
Kelley 2015 [64]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: Median 48 Gy in 4 (67)	79 (60-92)	NR	78 (22 NR)	100	24.5 (2.4-50.3)
Kestin 2014 [15]	Retro	Median 54 Gy in 3 (483)	74 (42-94)	NR	99 (1 NR)	89	15.6
Kohutek 2015 [16]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 54-60 Gy in 3 For central tumours: 45-50 Gy in 5 For tumours within 1 cm of chest wall: 48 Gy in 4 (211)	77 (51-95)	NR	99.1	NR	25.2 (4.3-75.2)
Kopek 2009 [65]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 67.5 in 3 (26) For central tumours: 45 Gy in 3 (62)	72.8 (47.1- 88.5)	0.7-1.1	58 (40.9 NR)	100	44 (1.6-96.5)

Study	Study design	Doses & selection criteria (sample size)	Median/mean age (range)	Overall treatment time (weeks)	% tumours < 5 cm or ≤T2a	% medically inoperable	Median f/u in months (range)
Koshy 2015 [17]	Retro	Median 54 Gy (range, 36- 80 Gy) in 3 (range, 3-10) (498)	NR	NR	67.1 (32.9 NR)	100	68 (58-74)
Lagerwaard 2008 [66]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 60 Gy in 3 (93) or 60 in 5 (99) For central tumours: 60 Gy in 8 (27)	73	NR	59 (41 NR)	81	12 (3-44)
Lee 2013 [18]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 45 Gy in 3 or 60 Gy in 5 For central tumours: 50 Gy in 5 or 56 Gy in 7 (58)	73 (48-90)	0.4-1.4	98.3	65.5	23.8 (1.5-77.2)
Mak 2015 [19]	Retro	Close to chest wall: 50-60 Gy in 5 All other tumours: 54 Gy in 3 (75)	74 (46-93)	NR	98.7	100	18.8
Marwaha 2014 [67]	Retro	Based on size and location: 50 Gy in 5, 60 Gy in 3, 30 or 34 Gy in 1 (342)	74 (43-94)	NR	NR	100	17.6 (0-84)
Matsuo 2012 [68]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 48 Gy in 4 (74)	77 (63-88)	Median 0.7 (0.6-1.7)	100	50	31.4 (4.2-65.0)
Mutter 2012 [69]	Retro	40-60 Gy in 3-5 (126); dose based on location	77 (55-95)	Median 1 (0.6-2.7)	96.8	NR	16 (3-43)
Olsen 2011 Retro [70]		For peripheral tumours: 54 Gy in 3 (111) For central tumours: 45 Gy in 5 (8) or 50 Gy in 5 (11)	75 (31-92)	54 Gy in 3: median 1.1 (0.7- 3.6) 45 Gy in 5: median 2.4 (1.6- 4) 50 Gy in 5: median 2 (1.6- 2.3)	95.4	90	54 Gy in 3: 13 45 Gy in 5: 11 50 Gy in 5: 16
Onishi 2007 [20]	Retro	18-75 Gy in 1-22 (257); high dose excluded for spinal cord	74 (39-92)	<3.6	63.8 (36.2 NR)	61.5	38 (2-128)
Ricardi 2014 [21]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 48-60 Gy in 3-8 (196)	75 (48-91)	NR	100	92.3	30
Rosen 2014 [71]	Retro	Based on location and tumour size: 48 Gy in 4 (20) 60 Gy in 5 (59)	73 (27-92)	NR	75 (25 NR)	100	27 (4-82)

Study	Study design	Doses & selection criteria (sample size)	Median/mean age (range)	Overall treatment time (weeks)	% tumours < 5 cm or ≤T2a	% medically inoperable	Median f/u in months (range)
Satoh 2014 [72]	Retro	48 Gy in 4 (65), 60 Gý in 10 (4), 70 Gy in 10 (19)	Male 77.9 (60- 90) Female 78.6 (58-89)	NR	100	NR	33 (7-79)
Schanne 2015 [73]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: Median 60 Gy in 3 (476) For central tumours: 58.3 Gy in 5 (90)	71.6 (31-92)	Peripheral: median 0.7 (0.3-4.1) Central: median 1.1 (0.1- 5.1)	94.7 (5.3 NR)	NR	18.8 (mean)
Shibamoto 2012 [74]	Pro	44 Gy in 4 (4), 48 Gy in 4 (124), 52 Gy in 4 (52); dose based on tumour size	77 (29-89)	Median 1.7 (1.3-3)	71.1 (28.9 NR)	66.7	36
Shirata 2012 [75]	Retro	48 Gy in 4 (45), 60 Gy in 8 (29), 60 Gy in 15 (7); dose based on location	77 (54-90)	0.6-3	77.8 (22.2 NR)	NR	30.4 (0.3-78.5)
Shultz 2014 [76]	Retro	Based on tumour size: 25-60 Gy in 1-5 (117)	77 (42-93)	NR	73 (27 NR)	NR	17 (3-74)
Sibley 1998 [77]	Retro	Median 64 Gy (50-80 Gy) in 1.2 bid to 3 Gy qd (141)	70 (46-95)	Median 6.3	54 (46 NR)	100	24 (7-132)
Stanic 2014 [78]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 54 Gy in 3 (55)	72 (48-89)	2	80 (20 NR)	100	NR
Stephans 2009 [79]	Retro	50 Gy in 5 (51) or 60 Gy in 3 (35); central only received 50 Gy in 5	73 (48-89)	50 Gy in 5: 0.7 60 Gy in 3: 1.1-2	73.4 (26.6 NR)	100	15.3 (1.9-47.6)
Suzuki 2014 [22]	Retro	Based on tumour location: 48-60 in 3-10 (383)	NR (47-93)	NR	NR	78.3	39
Taremi 2012 [80]	Pro	For peripheral tumours: 48 Gy in 4, 54 Gy in 3, 60 Gy in 3 For central tumours: 60 Gy in 8, 50 Gy in 10 (108)	72.6 (48.3-90)	NR	75.4 (24.6 NR)	100	19.1 (1-55.7)
Ueki 2015 [81]	Retro	By tumour location: 48-60 Gy in 4-8 (157)	77.5 (56-89)	NR	100	NR	39.5
Videtic 2014 [82]	Retro	For peripheral tumours: 30 Gy in 1 (55), 34 Gy in 1 (25)	30 Gy in 1: 75 (48-91), 34 Gy in 1: 73 (53- 84)	8-14 days	100	100	30 Gy in 1: 18.7 (1.8-43.0), 34 Gy in 1: 17.8 (0.1-39.4)

Study	Study	Doses &	selection	Median/mean	Overall	treatment	time	% tumours < 5 cm	% medically	Median f/u in
	design	criteria (san	nple size)	age (range)	(weeks)			or ≤T2a	inoperable	months (range)
Woody	Retro	60 Gy in 3, 5	0 Gy in 5, 48	71.5	0.6-1.7			NR	100	25.5 mean (12-
2012 [83]		Gy in 4, 50 G	y in 10 (102)							55)

Abbreviations: bid, twice daily; f/u, follow-up; Gy, Grays; NR, not reported; Pro, prospective; qd, four times daily; retro, retrospective

## Study Design and Quality

#### Quality of Systematic Reviews

The systematic reviews were assessed using AMSTAR (Table 4-3) [41]. The quality of the systematic reviews was considered to be low to moderate. This was mainly because the quality of the included studies was not assessed and, therefore, was not taken into consideration when the conclusions were formulated. Furthermore, the Chi and Kong reviews only searched one database [25,26]. Given the lack of comparative RCTs, most of the studies included in these reviews were prospective or retrospective cohorts even though data collection may have been done prospectively. As such, the inherent limitations of retrospective designs should be taken into consideration when reviewing evidence from these studies.

	ITEM	Chi et al 2013 [25]	Grutters et al 2010 [2]	Kong et al 2014 [26]	Zhang et al 2011 [23]
1.	Was an 'a priori' design provided?	Y	Y	Y	Y
2.	Was there duplicate study selection and data extraction?	Ν	Y	Y	Y
3.	Was a comprehensive literature search performed?	Ν	Y	Ν	Y
4.	Was the status of publication (i.e., grey literature) used as an inclusion criterion?	Y	Y	Ν	Y
5.	Was a list of studies (included and excluded) provided?	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
6.	Were the characteristics of the included studies provided?	Y	Y	Y	Y
7.	Was the scientific quality of the included studies assessed and documented?	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
8.	Was the scientific quality of the included studies used appropriately in formulating conclusions?	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
9.	Were the methods used to combine the findings of the studies appropriate?	Ν	Y	Y	Y
10.	Was the likelihood of publication bias assessed?	N	Ν	Ν	Y
11.	Was the conflict of interest stated?	Y	Ν	Y	Y
	TOTAL AMSTAR POINTS	4	6	5	8

#### Table 4-3. AMSTAR evaluation of included systematic reviews.

Abbreviations: N = no; Y = yes

## Quality of Primary Studies

The quality of the primary studies was assessed using ACROBAT-NRSI (Appendix 4). The quality of the 52 observational studies was considered to be very low. Only four of the studies were prospective [52,56,74,80] and blinding was not reported in most of the papers. As such, most studies were at an increased risk of bias in the selection of participants into the study, in the measurement of interventions and outcomes, and in the selection of the reported results. Furthermore, many of the studies did not adjust for potential confounders such as tumour stage or location.

#### Outcomes

# *Question #1*: What is the effectiveness of radiotherapy with curative intent in patients with early stage NSCLC who are unable to undergo surgery?

#### Systematic reviews

Grutters et al. (2010) compared SBRT with conventional radiotherapy, proton therapy, and carbon ion therapy using meta-regression, adjusting for the percentage of medically inoperable patients [2]. Age, percentage of small tumours (<3 cm), and median follow-up were not found to be effect modifiers. Only single-arm observational studies were available for the meta-regression. They found that conventional radiotherapy had lower two-year (53%, 95% confidence interval [CI], 46% to 60%) and five-year (20%, 95% CI, 15% to 24%) overall survival rates and lower two-year (67%, 95% CI, 59% to 76%) and five-year (44%, 95% CI, 31 to 56%) disease-specific survival rates compared with SBRT (two-year overall survival: 70%, 95% CI, 63% to 77%, p<0.001; five-year overall survival: 42%, 95% CI, 34% to 50%, p<0.001; two-year diseasespecific survival: 83%, 95% CI, 75% to 92%, p=0.006; five-year disease-specific survival: 63%, 95% CI, 50% to 75%, p=0.045). There were no significant differences in survival rates among SBRT, proton therapy, and carbon ion therapy. However, they suggested five-year outcomes be interpreted with caution due to the limited length of follow-up. They also found that SBRT studies reported more adverse events including grades 3/4 pneumonitis, grades 3/4 irreversible dyspnea, grades 3/4 esophagitis, and treatment-related death, compared with conventional radiotherapy or proton or carbon ion therapies. However, all of the treatment-related deaths after SBRT came from one study that had a high biological effective dose (BED) and included peripherally located tumours. Furthermore, the studies that used proton or carbon therapies had smaller sample sizes than the SBRT studies. Statistical comparisons could not be made due to the low number of events.

#### Primary studies

Eight cohort studies [3-10] compared SBRT with observation or other forms of radiation treatments including accelerated hypofractionated radiation therapy, three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy, conventional fractionated radiation therapy, and external beam radiation therapy (Tables 4-4 and 4-5). In all studies, patients treated with SBRT were found to have at least the same or better local control or survival compared with patients who received other forms of radiotherapy or observation. In terms of adverse events, few statistical comparisons were made due to the low number of events, but in studies where statistical comparisons were made, there were lower adverse events for SBRT compared with the alternate therapy.

Study	Treatment type	Local control (%)	Survival (%)	Median overall survival in months (95% CI)	Toxicity			
Borst 2009 [3]	SBRT	NR	NR	NR	No difference bet radiation pneumo	No difference between treatments in incidence of radiation pneumonitis for any of the six dose range		
	CRFT	NR	NR	NR	covering 4 Gy each. However, statistical power limited due to lower number of patients at hi dose range.		er gher	
Jeppesen 2013 [4]	SBRT	5-year: 83	Cancer-specific survival: 61	36.1		SBRT (%)	Con R (%)	_
2010[1]	Conventional	78 (p=0.48)	Cancer-specific survival: 31	24.4 (p=0.02)	Esophagitis	0	1(3)	_
	radiation		(p=0.09)		Dyspnea	0	0	-
					No difference in d	0 lecline of lung	0 function meas	ured by
Koshy 2015 [5]	SBRT	NR	3-year overall survival: 48	NR	NR			
	Conventional radiation	NR	40 (p=0.001)	NR				
Lanni 2011 [6]	SBRT	3-year: 88	3-year overall survival: 71	NR	NR			
	EBRT	66 (p=0.10)	42 (p<0.049)	NR				
Lucas 2014	SBRT	2-year: 92.5 3-year: 87 7	NR	38.4 (29.7-51.6)		SBRT (%)	AHRT (%)	
[,]	AHRT 2-year: 79.5 (p=0.11) NR 3-year: 71.7	NR	35 (22-48.3) (p=0.59)	Grade 3 toxicity	3(4)	0		
				Bleeding	0	1 (1)		
				Pneumonitis (grades 1&2)	3(4)	8(10)		
				Chronic pain	5(6)	5(6)		
					Rib fracture	0	1(1)	
					Complications resolved	2(3)	9(11)	
Shirvani 2012 [8]	SBRT	NR	Cancer-specific survival: SBRT better than conventional radiation HR	SBRT better than conventional radiation HR 1.97 (1.31-2.96) n=0 001	NR			
	Conventional		1.56 (0.67-3.59) p=0.30	Adjusted for age & grade HR 1.96				
	radiation		Adjusted for age & grade HR 1 59 (0.67-3.80) $p=0.30$	(1.28-3.00) p=0.002				
	Observation		SBRT better than	2.10 (1.37-3.08) p<0.001 adjusted				
			observation HR 3.88 (1.78- 8.43) p<0.001 adjusted for tumour size HR 3.90 (1.76- 8.61) p<0.001	for tumour size HR 2.03 (1.34-3.07) p<0.001				
Widder	SBRT	2-year: 95	Cancer-specific survival: 89	72	NR			
2011[10]								

## Table 4-4. Comparisons of survival, local control/recurrence, and toxicity for different radiotherapy regimens or observation.

Study	Treatment type	Local control (%)	Survival (%)	Median overall survival in months (95% CI)	Toxicity
	3D-CRT	78	67	48 (p=0.02)	

Abbreviations: AHRT, accelerated hypofractionated radiation therapy; 3D-CRT, three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy; CFRT, conventional fractionated radiation therapy; CI, confidence interval; EBRT, external beam radiation therapy; FEV<sub>1</sub>, forced expiratory volume in 1 s; HR, hazard ratio; NR, not reported; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy

#### Table 4-5. Comparisons of outcomes using regression for different radiotherapy regimens or observation.

Study	Variables compared	Variables in multivariable analysis	Statistically significant treatment variables
Jeppesen 2013	SBRT	Overall survival:	Overall survival:
[4]	Conventional radiation	SBRT, gross tumour volume <25 cm <sup>3</sup> , adenocarcinoma,	Better for SBRT
		sex, smoker, performance score >1	
Koshy 2015 [5]	SBRT	Overall survival:	Overall survival:
	Conventional radiation	Gender, comorbidities, T stage, age at diagnosis,	SBRT better than observation HR 0.67 (0.61-0.73)
	Observation	histology, race/ethnicity, insurance status, facility type,	p<0.0001
		facility volume, year of diagnosis, treatment method	Conventional radiation better than observation HR
			0.77 (0.74-0.80) p<0.0001)
Tong 2015 [9]	SBRT	Radiation pneumonitis:	Radiation pneumonitis:
	3D-CRT	Radiation therapy techniques, pre-forced expiratory	higher for 3D-CRT
		volume during first second/forced vital capacity	
Widder 2011	SBRT	Overall survival:	Overall survival:
[10]	3D-CRT	Treatment method, World Health Organization	Better for SBRT
		performance score, tumour size, Charlson comorbidity	
		index	Physical functioning:
			Change per year better for SBRT
		Global quality of life, physical functioning, dyspnea:	
		Mean baseline score between treatments, change per	
		year between treatments	

Abbreviations: 3D-CRT, three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy; HR, hazard ratio; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy

# *Question #2:* What are the most effective dosing/frequency schedules for curative intent radiotherapy?

#### Systematic reviews

Zhang et al. (2011) performed a meta-regression using observational studies to assess the impact of the BED of SBRT on overall survival, cancer-specific survival, and local control rate [23]. The only characteristic that was found to significantly influence the regression coefficient and was corrected for in their model was the percentage of patients with tumours smaller than 3 cm. They divided studies into four dose groups based on the quartile of included studies. These included low (<83.2), medium (83.2 to 106), medium to high (106 to 146), and high (>146). They found a significant overall survival benefit at two years and three years with the delivery of medium BED (two-year: 76%, 95% CI, 62% to 92%; three-year: 64%, 95% CI, 57% to 71%) or medium to high BED (two-year: 68%, 95% CI, 61% to 76%; three-year: 63%, 95% CI, 56% to 71%) compared with high BED (two-year: 56%, 95% CI, 50% to 63%, p<0.001; three-year: 50%, 95% CI, 43% to 57%, p<0.001) or low BED at three years only (three-year: 52%, 95% CI, 44% to 62%, p<0.005). Also, three-year cancer-specific survival for medium BED (80%, 95% CI, 72% to 88%) was higher compared with low BED (70%, 95% CI, 57% to 85%, p=0.016) but lower compared with high BED (90%, 95% CI, 69% to 1%, p=0.0067). No significant differences were found among dose groups for local control rate, nor were any differences found when a cut-off of 100 BED was used. The occurrence of severe adverse events of grades 3 to 5 was only significantly different between the low and high BED groups.

Two systematic reviews examined the most appropriate metrics for what dose to use when calculating the effects of SBRT on patient outcomes. Chi et al. (2013) performed a systematic review to investigate the best  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio for the BED calculation [25]. They included 24 studies and found the strongest correlations between BED and local control (p=0.007) or BED and twoyear overall survival (p=0.073) when an  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio of 20 Gy was used, suggesting that an  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio of >10 Gy may be more appropriate for the prediction of BED dose response in early stage lung cancer. The 2014 systematic review by Kong et al. included 19 studies, and found that total dose multiplied by dose per fraction was predictive of local control, whereas BED had no significant association [26]. This suggests that total dose multiplied by dose per fraction may be a more appropriate metric than BED to estimate the effects of SBRT. However, the authors from both systematic reviews caution that these results need to be validated in future studies.

#### Primary studies (Tables 4-6 and 4-7)

Twenty-four cohort articles [19,22,52,54,56,57,59,61,63-67,70-77,79,80,82] compared different doses or fractions or BED as a continuous variable and their impact on patient outcomes. Many of the studies used the location or size of the tumour as criteria for administering different dosages, with central tumours receiving lower doses than peripheral tumours, but this was not adjusted for in their analyses. Only Bradley et al. (2010) adjusted for location in a multivariable analysis and found that a higher maximum dose of  $\geq 67$  Gy led to fewer local recurrences compared with maximum doses <67 Gy [56]. Allibhai et al. (2013) also controlled for tumour diameter in a multivariable analysis and found that increasing dose regimens were associated with greater overall survival, cause-specific survival, and local relapse-free survival [52]. Likewise, Taremi et al. adjusted for tumour size in a multivariable analysis and found dose to be associated with overall survival [80]. In a multivariable analysis by Kopek et al. (2009) that adjusted for T stage, no difference was found in overall survival between patients that had a total dose of 45 Gy in three fractions versus 67.5 Gy in three fractions [65]. Olsen et al. 2011 found no difference in overall survival using multivariable analysis, controlling for tumour volume, among 54 Gy in three fractions, 45 Gy in five fractions or 50 Gy in five fractions; however, 45 Gy in five fractions was a significant predictor of local failure [70]. Using univariable analysis, Hayashi et al. (2014) found that neither tumour location nor total dose (48 Gy in four fractions versus 60 Gy in 10 fractions) was correlated with overall survival [61]. For centrally located tumours, Chang et al. (2014) found no difference in overall survival, progression-free survival, local recurrence, regional recurrence, or distant metastasis in patients who had received 50 Gy in four fractions compared with patients who had received 70 Gy in 10 fractions [57]. Likewise, Schanne et al. (2012) found no association between the maximum dose (range, 30 to 86.2 Gy) and overall survival, disease-free survival, and freedom from local progression in patients with centrally located tumours [73].

Twelve retrospective studies [11-22] assessed optimal BED cut-offs. A study using multivariable analyses that controlled for stage, found that patients who received doses with a BED  $\geq$ 106 had higher overall survival and freedom from local progression than patients who received a BED of <106 [14]. Similarly, Grills et al. (2012) found that a BED cut-off of 105 was associated with local recurrence using regression analysis and adjusting for tumour volume [13]. Furthermore, Onishi et al. (2007) found that local recurrence rates were lower and five-year overall survival rates were higher for patients who received a BED ≥100 compared with a BED of <100 [20]. Likewise, Kestin et al. (2014) and Kohutek et al. (2015) found associations between a cut-off of 100 BED or 105 BED and local control, but not overall survival [15,16]. Conversely, Lee et al. (2013), Ricardi et al. (2014), Mak et al. (2015) and Factor et al. (2014) did not find an association between BED cut-offs of 101, 101.7, 106, or 151.2, respectively, and local relapse-free survival, distant metastasis-free survival, cause-specific survival, local control, or overall survival [12,18,19,21]. Most of these studies had small sample sizes [12,18,19]. For T2 tumours, Davis et al. (2015) [11] found an association between a BED of <105 and local failure but not overall survival, and Koshy et al. (2015) [17] found higher overall survival for patients with T2 tumours that received BED doses of >150.

For adverse effects, several studies examined the impact of dose on chest wall toxicity including chest wall pain or pneumonitis. Stephans et al. (2009) found significantly higher chest wall toxicity for patients receiving 60 Gy in three fractions compared with 50 Gy in five fractions [79]. Bongers et al. (2011) reported that different fractionation schemes in which 60 Gy was delivered in three, five, or eight fractions based on location was not a significant factor for chest wall toxicity [55]. Likewise, Fischer-Valuck et al. (2013) found no difference in chest toxicity between 48 Gy in four fractions compared with 60 Gy in five fractions [59].

Using Cox regression multivariable analysis, Creach et al. (2012) found that only the percentage of the chest wall receiving 40 Gy versus other doses from 20 to 65 Gy was predictive of chest wall pain [84]. Using multivariable logistic analysis, Woody et al. (2012) reported that a modified equivalent dose that accounts for dose inhomogeneity and fractionation differences was associated with chest wall pain [83]. For peripheral tumours, Mutter et al. (2012) found that a volume of chest wall  $\geq$ 70 cm<sup>3</sup> receiving 30 Gy was correlated with chest wall pain [69].

Several studies found an association between mean lung dose or the dose received by lung volume and pneumonitis. Barriger et al. (2012) found that a mean lung dose >4 Gy and a lung volume receiving at least 20 Gy but not 10 Gy or 5 Gy of radiation was associated with grade 2 to 4 pneumonitis [53]. Using Cox regression multivariable analysis, Chang et al. (2012) found that an ipsilateral lung volume of  $\geq 6.3\%$  receiving 40 Gy (the highest dose entered in the model) was associated with grade 2 to 3 pneumonitis [58]. Matsuo et al. (2012) reported that only V20 and V25 were associated with pneumonitis of grade 2 or higher [68]. Similarly, Inoue et al. (2013) found that the mean lung dose and V20 were significantly higher in patients with grade 2 or 3 pneumonitis compared with those with grade 0 or 1 pneumonitis [63]. Ueki et al. (2015) also found that V5, V15, V20, V25, and the mean lung dose were predictive of grade 2 or higher pneumonitis [81]. However, two studies using regression analysis did not find an association between mean lung dose or V20 and pneumonitis [61,78].

Other adverse events were also investigated. Grills et al. (2012) found that rib fractures were associated with higher BED [13]. The threshold value for a significant increase in fracture rate appeared to be at a BED of 132 (11% versus 5%, p=0.007). Guckenberger et al. (2013) found no association between dosimetric variables and changes in pulmonary function [60]. Hoppe et al. (2008) reported that a maximum skin dose of 50% or higher of the prescribed dose was associated with increased skin toxicity [62].

Table 4-6. Comparisons of overall survival, local control, and toxicity to advise on the most effective dose/fractionation schedules.

Study	Doses compared	Local control (%)	Median overall survival in	Toxicity
-			months (95% CI)	
Davis 2015 [11]	BED <105 BED 105-149 BED ≥150	For T2 tumours (p=0.011): BED <105 = 43% BED 105-149 = 74% BED $\ge$ 150 = 95 % No difference for T1 tumours	For T2 tumours: BED <105 = 17 BED 105-149 = 32 (p=0.062) No difference for T1 tumours	NR
Olsen 2011 [70]	For peripheral tumours: 54 Gy in 3 For central tumours: 45 Gy in 5 or 50 Gy in 5	54 Gy in 3 = 91 45 Gy in 5 = 50 50 Gy in 5 = 100 (p=0.46) between 50 Gy in 5 and 54 Gy in 3 (p=0.006) between combined 50 Gy in 5 and 54 Gy in 3 ys 45 Gy in 5	54 Gy in 3 = 34 45 Gy in 5 = 14 50 Gy in 5 = Not reached (p=0.21) between 50 Gy in 5 and 54 Gy in 3 (p=0.016) between combined 50 Gy in 5 and 54 Gy in 3 vs 45 Gy in 5	From Creach 2012 [84] On multivariable analysis using logistic regression, % of chest wall receiving 30, 35, or 40 Gy was most predictive of chest wall pain. On multivariable analysis using Cox regression, only % of chest wall receiving 40 Gy was predictive of chest wall pain.
Stephans 2009 [79]	50 Gy in 5 or 60 Gy in 3	50 Gy in 5 = 97.3 60 Gy in 3 = 100 (p=0.536)	At 1-year: 50 Gy in 5 = 83.1% 60 Gy in 3 = 76.9% (p=0.680)	50 Gy in 5 (%)60 Gy in 3 (%)Grade 2 radiation111pneumonitis0Grade 3 radiation0Chest wall toxicity2(4)7(18) p=0.028No difference in pulmonary function test changes by fractionation group

Abbreviations: BED, biological effective dose, CI, confidence interval; Gy, Grays

Table 4-7. Comparisons of outcomes using regression to advise on the most effective dose/fractionation schedules.

Study	Dosimetric variables compared	Variables in multivariable analysis using Cox proportional hazard model	Statistically significant dosimetric variables associated with better outcomes	Other analysis
Allibhai 2013 [52]	Dose regimen as ordinals of 50 Gy in 10 fractions < 60 Gy in 8 fractions < 50 Gy in 5 fractions < 52.5 Gy in 5 fractions < 48 Gy in 4 fractions < 54 Gy in 3 fractions < 60 Gy in 3 fractions	LRFS, RRFS, DRFS, NLRFS, overall survival, CSS, DFS: Age, dose regimen, ECOG, sex, tumour diameter, gross tumour volume, planning target volume, T-category	LRFS, overall survival, CSS: Increasing dose regimen No dosimetric variables were significant for the remaining outcomes	No significant association between rate of radiation pneumonitis and dosimetric values such as V20 and mean lung dose
Barriger 2012 [53]	Mean lung dose (≤4 Gy and >4 Gy), V5 (≤20% and >20%), V10 (≤12% and >12%), V20 (≤4% median and >4%)	NR	NR	Mean lung dose and V20 but not V5 or V10 were associated with grade 2-4 pneumonitis
Baumann 2006 [54]	30-48 Gy or < and >55.6 Gy	NR	NR	No correlation between dose and local control or overall survival rates No difference in risk of local failure between < and >55.6 Gy groups Significant advantage in survival for >55.6 Gy group (p<0.0018)
Bongers 2011 [55]	For peripheral tumours: 60 Gy in 3 fractions For broad contact with chest wall: 60 Gy in 5 fractions For central tumours: 60 Gy in 8 fractions	NR	NR	On univariable analysis fractionation scheme was not a significant factor for chest wall toxicity

Study		Dosimetric variables compared	Variables in multivariable analysis using Cox proportional hazard model	Statistically significant dosimetric variables associated with better outcomes	Other analysis
Bradley [56]	2010	Maximum dose: < and ≥ 67 Gy, total prescription dose, fraction size	Local recurrence: Age, sex, race, performance status, biopsy, location, tumour dimension, T stage, poor lung function, fraction size, total prescription dose, gross tumour volume, planning target volume, maximum dose Overall survival: Age, sex, performance status, biopsy, location, tumour dimension, T stage, poor lung function, fraction size, total prescription dose, gross tumour volume, planning target volume, maximum dose, secondary cancer, distant metastasis Nodal or distant metastases: Age, sex, performance status, biopsy, location, histology primary site, tumour dimension, T stage, poor lung function, fraction size, total prescription dose, gross tumour volume, planning target volume, pneumonitis	Local recurrence: Maximum dose Overall survival: None Nodal or distant metastases: Total prescription dose	Higher maximum doses (≥67 Gy) led to higher rates of local tumour control (p=0.07)
Chang [57]	2014	50 Gy in 4 fractions or 70 Gy in 10 fractions	Unclear	Radiation pneumonitis grade 2-3: Mean bilateral lung dose >6, V20 of >12%, ipsilateral V30 of >15%	For overall survival, progression-free survival, local recurrence, regional recurrence, and distant metastasis, there were no differences between 50 Gy in 4 and 70 Gy in 10
Chang [58]	2012	Total lung volume (= right plus left lungs minus gross tumour volume), ipsilateral lung volume (= lung containing lesion to be treated minus gross tumour volume)	Radiation pneumonitis: Total lung volume, mean dose to total lung volume, ipsilateral lung volume, mean dose to ipsilateral lung volume	Radiation pneumonitis: Ipsilateral lung V40 ≥6.3%	NR
Factor [12]	2014	BED >106 or ≤106	NR	NR	On univariable analysis, BED at a cut-off of 106 did not predict local control or overall survival

Study	Dosimetric variables compared	Variables in multivariable analysis using Cox proportional hazard model	Statistically significant dosimetric variables associated with better outcomes	Other analysis
Fischer-Valuck 2013 [59]	For peripheral tumours: 60 Gy in 5 fractions For central tumours: 48 Gy in 4 fractions	NR	NR	Overall survival, local failure, distant metastasis were not different on univariable analysis by radiation dose No relationship between radiation dose and toxicity
Grills 2012 [13]	Prescription BED <sub>10</sub> < and ≥ 105	Local recurrence: Prescription BED <sub>10</sub> , elapsed days during SBRT, gross tumour volume maximum dimension	Local recurrence: Prescription BED <sub>10</sub>	Mean prescription $BED_{10}$ for rib fracture versus none was 124 versus 141 (p<0.001) Prescription $BED_{10}$ had an area under the curve of 0.659 (p=0.001) for rib fracture, with an optimal receiver operator characteristic cut point of 132 for a fracture rate of 11% versus 5 % (p=0.007)
Guckenberger 2013 [14]	Planning target volume- encompassing dose BED <sub>10</sub> < and ≥ 106, dose inhomogeneity (planning target volume- encompassing dose/maximum dose) < and ≥ 80%	Overall survival: Performance status, clinical stage, baseline forced expiratory volume in 1 second, biopsy status, planning target volume-encompassing dose, SBRT procedures/institution and year Freedom from local progression: Clinical stage, biopsy status, staging fluoro-deoxy-glucose positron emission tomography, histology, planning target volume-encompassing dose, dose inhomogeneity, image-guided radiotherapy, SBRT procedures/institution and year	Overall survival: Planning target volume- encompassing dose Freedom from local progression: Planning target volume- encompassing dose	NR
Guckenberger 2013 [60]	Mean lung dose, absolute and relative V5-V70 of the lungs, mean planning target volume dose	NR	NR	No relationship was found between the dosimetric variables and changes in post- treatment pulmonary function test using linear regression analysis, receiver operating characteristic analysis and Lyman's normal tissue complication probability model
Hayashi 2014 [61]	For peripheral tumours: 48 Gy in 4 fractions For central tumours: 60 Gy in 10 fractions	NR	NR	In univariable analysis, total dose was not a predictor of overall survival V20 and mean lung dose were not correlated with radiation pneumonitis

Study	Dosimetric variables compared	Variables in multivariable analysis using Cox proportional hazard model	Statistically significant dosimetric variables associated with better outcomes	Other analysis
Hoppe 2008 [62]	60 Gy in 3 fractions vs 44- 48 Gy in 4 fractions	NR	NR	Using Fisher's exact test, there was no difference in skin toxicity between the different doses Maximum back skin dose $\geq$ 50% of prescribed dose on the planning scan was associated with skin toxicity grade $\geq$ 2 (p=0.02)
Inoue 2013 [63]	48 Gy in 4 fractions, 45 to 50 Gy in 4 fractions	NR	NR	No difference in local control or overall survival between the different dose prescriptions Mean lung dose (p=0.002) and volume of lung receiving 20 Gy (p=0.003) were higher in patients with radiation pneumonitis Grade 2/3 than in those with radiation pneumonitis grade 0/1
Kelley 2015 [64]	For peripheral tumours: Median 48 Gy in 4 fractions	NR	NR	In univariable analysis, BED was not a predictor of disease-free survival or overall survival
Kestin 2014 [15]	BED cutpoint 105 or as a continuous variable	NR	Local recurrence: BED as a continuous variable	A BED <sub>10</sub> >105 and PTV <sub>mean</sub> BED > 125 had significantly higher local control than lower doses (p=0.001)
Kohutek 2015 [16]	BED <sub>10</sub> <100 or ≥100	NR	NR	BED was not a significant predictor in univariable analysis for overall survival but was correlated with local control (p=0.01)
Kopek 2009 [65]	For peripheral tumours: 45 Gy in 3 fractions or 67.5 in 3 fractions For central tumours: 45 Gy in 3 fractions	Overall survival: Sex, histology, WHO performance status, age-adjusted Charlson Co- morbidity Index, total dose, T-stage	None	NR
Koshy 2015 [17]	BED ≥150 and <150	Overall survival: Gender, comorbidities, T stage, age at diagnosis, histology, BED, race/ethnicity, insurance status, facility type, facility volume, year of diagnosis	Overall survival: BED ≥150	BED ≥150 was a significant predictor of overall survival for patients with T2 tumours (p<0.0001) but not for patients with T1 tumours

Study	Dosimetric variables compared	Variables in multivariable analysis using Cox proportional hazard model	Statistically significant dosimetric variables associated with better outcomes	Other analysis
Lagerwaard 2008 [66]	BED <sub>10</sub> of 180, 132, and 105	NR	NR	In univariable analysis, BED was not associated with overall survival, local progression-free survival, regional progression-free survival, distant progression-free survival, DFS
Lee 2013 [18]	BED <sub>10</sub> <101.7 or ≥101.7	NR	NR	In univariable analysis, BED <sub>10</sub> was not associated with LRFS, distant metastasis-free survival, or CSS
Mak 2015 [19]	>54 Gy or ≤ 54 Gy BED ≥151.2 or <151.2	NR	NR	In univariable analysis, dose and BED were not associated with recurrence or cancer-specific survival
Marwaha 2014 [67]	50 Gy in 5 fractions, 60 Gy in 3 fractions, 30 or 34 Gy in 1 fractions	NR	NR	In univariable analysis, radiation fractionation and total dose were not associated with nodal failure patterns
Matsuo 2012 [68]	Mean lung dose, V5, V10, V15, V20, V25, V30, V35, V40	NR	NR	Using the recursive partitioning method, V25 (p=0.019) and V20 (p=0.030) were significant factors for radiation pneumonitis ( $\geq$ grade 2)
Mutter 2012 [69]	Volume exposed to a given dose were constructed for values of dose from 0 to the maximum dose in the total population at intervals of 1 Gy	Chest wall pain: Prescription dose, number of fractions	Chest wall pain: None	A volume of chest wall ≥70 cm <sup>3</sup> receiving 30 Gy (V30) significantly correlated with Grade ≥2 chest wall pain (p<0.001)
Olsen 2011 [70]	For peripheral tumours: 54 Gy in 3 fractions For central tumours: 45 Gy in 5 fractions or 50 Gy in 5 fractions	Local recurrence: Age, sex, race, treatment duration, biopsy performed, smoker, surgical candidate, tumor volume, treatment with 45 Gy in 5 fractions Overall survival: Age, sex, race, treatment duration, biopsy performed, smoker, surgical candidate, tumor volume, prescription dose group, performance status, distant metastasis	Local recurrence: 45 Gy in 5 fractions Overall survival: None	Overall survival statistics at years 1 and 2 were 92% and 85%, respectively, for operable patients, compared with 81% and 61% for inoperable patients, with no significant difference between the groups on log-rank test (p=0.088)

Study	Dosimetric variables compared	Variables in multivariable analysis using Cox proportional hazard model	Statistically significant dosimetric variables associated with better outcomes	Other analysis
Onishi 2007 [20]	BED ≥100 vs < 100	NR	NR	Local recurrence rates lower for BED ≥100 (8.4%) vs <100 (42.9%, p<0.01) Overall 5-year survival higher for BED ≥100 (53.9%; 95% CI, 46-61.8%) vs <100 (19.7%; 95% CI, 5.9-33.4%)
Ricardi 2014 [21]	BED <sub>10</sub> >100 vs ≤100	NR	NR	In univariable analysis, BED was not a significant predictor of local recurrence, disease-free survival, overall survival or cancer-specific survival
Rosen 2014 [71]	48 Gy in 4 fractions vs 60 Gy in 5 fractions	NR	NR	In univariable analysis, dose was not a predictor of overall survival (p=0.101)
Satoh 2014 [72]	BÉD <sub>10</sub> 96-119	NR	NR	In univariable analysis, BED was a significant predictor of DFS (p=0.005) but not of overall survival
Schanne 2015 [73]	maximum dose for central tumours of 30- 86.2 Gy	Overall survival, disease-free survival, freedom from local progression: Maximum dose, availability of staging PET/CT	Overall survival, disease- free survival, freedom from local progression: None	There was a significant association between freedom from local progression and maximum dose (cut-off 70 Gy, p=0.05)
Shibamoto 2012 [74]	48 Gy in 4 fractions vs 52 Gy in 4 fractions	NR	NR	No difference in local control between 48 Gy in 4 fractions vs 52 Gy in 4 fractions (p=0.060)
Shirata 2012 [75]	48 Gy in 4 fractions, 60 Gy in 8 fractions, 60 Gy in 15 fractions	Local control: Age, sex, T factor, histology, planning target volume, minimum dose for planning target volume, BED calculated from prescribed dose, BED calculated from minimum dose	Local control: BED calculated from prescribed dose, minimum dose for planning target volume	NR
Shultz 2014 [76]	BED <sub>10</sub>	Overall survival: BED using linear quadratic, contact with pleura adjacent to mediastinum, maximum standard uptake value	Overall survival: none	In univariable analysis, BED was not associated with freedom from distant metastasis, freedom from regional progression, freedom from local progression

Study	Dosimetric variables compared	Variables in multivariable analysis using Cox proportional hazard model	Statistically significant dosimetric variables associated with better outcomes	Other analysis
Sibley 1998 [77]	>64 Gy vs ≤64 Gy	CSS: Histology, incidental diagnosis, age, pack-years of smoking, radiotherapy dose, treatment volume Local failure: Age, size, histology, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, incidental diagnosis, cough, dyspnea, pain, hemoptysis, weight loss, pack- years of smoking, radiotherapy dose, radiotherapy volume	None	NR
Stanic 2014 [78]	Mean dose to whole lung, V5, V10, V20	NR	NR	In logistic regression analysis, mean dose to whole lung, V5, V10 and V20 were not correlated with pneumonitis
Stephans 2009 [79]	50 Gy in 5 fractions vs 60 Gy in 3 fractions	NR	NR	No difference in actuarial rates of distant metastasis, local control, and overall survival by fractionation regimen In univariable analysis, fractionation scheme was not a significant factor for overall survival No difference in pulmonary function test changes by fractionation group Chest wall toxicity was higher in 60 Gy group (7/38 lesions, 18%) compared with 50 Gy group (2/56 lesions, 4%, p=0.028) This difference persisted when central lesions were excluded (7/38 vs 2/49, p=0.039)
Suzuki 2014 [22]	BED	Overall survival, local control: Age, sex, WHO performance status, BED at periphery of planning target volume, operability, forced expiratory volume at one second at baseline, gross tumour volume	Overall survival: None Local control: BED at periphery of planning target volume	Using receiver operator curve analysis, an optimal cut off of 86.4 BED was determined in predicting local failure
Taremi 2012 [80]	60 gy in 3 fractions vs 54 Gy in 3 fractions vs 48 Gy in 4 fractions vs 60 Gy in 8 fractions vs 50 Gy in 10 fractions	Overall survival: Tumour size, dose, female	Overall survival: Dose	NR

Study	Dosimetric variables compared	Variables in multivariable analysis using Cox proportional hazard model	Statistically significant dosimetric variables associated with better outcomes	Other analysis
Ueki 2015 [81]	BED, fraction number (8 vs 4), V5, V10, V15, V20, V25, mean lung dose	NR	NR	In univariable analysis, BED and fraction number were not significant predictors of radiation pneumonitis, but V5, V15, V20 V25 and mean lung dose were significant predictors of ≥ grade 2 pneumonitis
Videtic 2014 [82]	30 Gy vs 34 Gy	NR	NR	There was no difference in toxicity, local failure, overall survival or lung cancer-specific survival between the doses
Woody 2012 [83]	Modified equivalent uniform dose	Chest wall pain: Modified equivalent uniform dose, body mass index	Chest wall pain: Modified equivalent uniform dose	With a volumetric parameter of 7.5 and an $\alpha/\beta$ ratio of 3 Gy, a modified equivalent uniform dose at a cutoff of 203 Gy in 2 had a 75% sensitivity and 80% specificity in predicting chest wall pain

Abbreviations: BED, biological effective dose; CSS, cause specific survival; DFS, disease-free survival; DRFS, distant relapse-free survival; ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group status; Gy, Grays; LRFS, local relapse-free survival; NLRFS, nonlocal relapse-free survival; NR, not reported; PET/CT, positron emission tomography/computed tomography; PTV<sub>mean</sub>, mean planning target volume; RRFS, regional relapse-free survival; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy; WHO, World Health Organization

#### Ongoing, Unpublished, or Incomplete Studies

The US National Institutes of Health's clinical trial registry (<u>http://www.clinicaltrials.gov</u>) was searched on October 15, 2015. Many ongoing trials investigating curative radiotherapy in early stage medically inoperable NSCLC were identified (Table 4-8). Also, 20 unpublished abstracts from non-randomized studies were found during the literature search [85-104]. This guideline does not make recommendations on treatment offered in these trials.

Table	4-8.	Ongoing	trials	of	stereotactic	radiation	therapy	in	early	stage,	medically
inoper	able	NSCLC									

Protocol ID	Study details
Proton Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Early-Stage Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer NCT01525446	In this study, the investigators are evaluating the safety and effectiveness of proton-based SBRT for early-stage NSCLC located in the periphery of the lung.
A Phase I/II Trial of Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy (SBRT) NCT00591838	The purpose of this study is to use SBRT in patients with early stage lung cancer and find out what effects (good and bad) SBRT has on their cancer.
Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy (RT) for Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer NCT01480973	MRI assessment of post-radiation change following stereotactic body RT for NSCLC: a pilot study
Risk-adapted Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy for Early Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Using the VERO Stereotactic Body Radio Therapy System NCT02224547 Risk Adapted SABR (SABR) in Stage I NSCLC And Lung Metastases (sbrtlungfff) NCT01823003 Phase II Trial of Individualized Lung	The purpose of this study is to perform prospective data analysis on tumour response in terms of local tumour control after 2 years, potential acute and late toxicity and survival in patients with non-metastatic, NSCLC treated by radiotherapy that are medically inoperable due to coexisting comorbidities or that refuse surgery. SBRT regimens used will be 4 fractions of 12 Gy or 3 fractions of 17 Gy depending on tumour location in a risk-adapted approach. This study is designed to evaluate the safety of Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy (SBRT) in selected patients with stage I NSCLC or metastatic lung cancer to demonstrate the feasibility and risks of using an ablative dose-adapted scheme with FFF beams.
Tumor Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy (iSABR) NCT01463423	the dose of radiation used to treat lung tumours with SABR based on tumour- specific factors.
Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy Versus Conventional Radiotherapy in Medically-Inoperable Non-Small Lung Cancer Patients (LUSTRE) NCT01968941	Eligible and consenting patients will be randomly allocated to receive stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) or conventional radiotherapy (CRT) in a 2:1 ratio. Radiotherapy will be administered as soon as possible following randomization and subjects will be followed for 5 years post- randomization for cancer recurrence, toxicity and survival. The primary outcome is local control (LC). The trial will be conducted at 16-20 clinical centres throughout Canada.
LungTech: Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy (SBRT) of Inoperable Centrally Located NSCLC NCT0179521	The main purpose of this trial is to assess the effectiveness of IG-SBRT (Image guided stereotactic body radiotherapy) in patients with medically inoperable early stage, centrally located NSCLC and in those who are not willing to undergo surgical treatment.

Abbreviations: IG, image guided; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging

#### DISCUSSION

Evidence from retrospective observational studies suggest that SBRT compared with observation or other forms of radiotherapy treatments such as accelerated hypofractionated radiation therapy, three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy, conventional fractionated radiation therapy, external beam radiation therapy, proton beam therapy, and carbon ion therapy may have similar or improved results in patient outcomes of survival or local control with similar or fewer adverse effects [3-10,86,88,90,91,94,96,98,100,101]. In the absence of RCTs, this evidence suggests that SBRT compared with other forms of radiotherapy is a reasonable treatment option for patients with medically inoperable early stage lung cancer.

SBRT involves the delivery of extremely large fraction sizes for each treatment. This requires much stricter treatment planning and delivery criteria compared with conventional radiotherapy. Rigorous quality assurance protocols must be followed in order to achieve intended results. Immobilization, imaging, planning, and treatment require a coordinated effort among the radiation oncologist, the medical physicist, the medical dosimetrist, and the radiation therapist [105].

Many of the included studies assigned doses based on the size and location of the tumour. This was based on a study by Timmerman et al. in 2006 that suggested that an increase in the damage to critical structures and incidence of serious adverse events and toxicity had been found in patients with centrally located tumours when higher dose fractionation schemes were used [1]. Park et al. (2015) showed that delivering lower doses to central tumours with a minimum of 100 BED did not predict inferior overall survival, local control, or toxicity compared with peripheral tumours [24]. Therefore, these factors should be taken into consideration when deciding on the dose or fractionation schedule.

Evidence from observational studies also suggested that local tumour control and survival was associated with the BED. A meta-regression by Zhang et al. (2011) found a significant overall survival benefit at two years and three years with the delivery of medium (83.2 to 106) or medium to high BED (106 to 146) compared with low (<83.2) or high BED (>146) [23]. The occurrence of severe adverse events of grades 3 to 5 was only significantly different between the low and high BED groups. This suggested that medium or medium to high doses may be the most optimal dose ranges. The BED cut-off, however, was difficult to determine. Several studies suggested a cut-off of approximately 100 BED was significantly correlated with patient outcomes [11,13-16,20]; however, other studies, including the Zhang et al. (2011) meta-regression, did not show this association [12,18,19,21,23], although most of these studies had small sample sizes.

There were several limitations associated with this review. These include the fact that the conclusions were drawn from mainly retrospective observational studies, which were at a higher risk of bias. The comparative studies varied in the doses and fractionation schedules and the specific techniques used for SBRT (e.g., linear accelerator, CyberKnife® system, and helical TomoTherapy®). Furthermore, the treatments were sometimes administered at different points in time. For example, conventional radiotherapy was an older technique compared with the newer technique of SBRT. Also, many of the studies comparing different doses or fractionation schedules did not adjust for possible confounders such as tumour location or stage. The conclusions drawn from this systematic review were consistent with the recommendations reported by Boily et al. (2015) [45].

Although the use of radiation dosages expressed as a BED has been advocated, it is important to understand the limitations of determining radiation BED using the linear quadratic model for the extremely hypofractionated schemes used in SBRT. The linear quadratic model has been used as a convenient, slightly simplified model to calculate effective dose when treating tumours with conventional fractionated radiation therapy. At such a high dose per fraction, other models of tissue injury have been suggested [25-27]. As such, users should exercise caution when using BED models in comparing different SBRT schemes.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Stereotactic radiation therapy is now emerging as the current treatment of choice for patients with early stage, medically inoperable, NSCLC. The comprehensive evidentiary base compiled suggests that it is a valid treatment option that should be offered to patients with this disease. Ongoing trials will continue to review dosing for marginal gains in effectiveness. Future research should focus on establishing the most effective location-specific dose/fractionation schemes, explore the effectiveness of other radiation modalities (e.g., proton), and determine the comparative effectiveness of stereotactic radiation combined with standard surgical treatment for operable cases with early stage NSCLC.

# Radiotherapy with Curative Intent in Patients with Early Stage, Medically Inoperable, Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer

# Section 5: Internal and External Review

### INTERNAL REVIEW

The guideline was evaluated by the Guideline Development Group (GDG) Expert Panel and the Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC) Report Approval Panel (RAP) (Appendix 1). The results of these evaluations and the Working Group's responses are described below.

#### Expert Panel Review and Approval

Of the 24 members of the GDG Expert Panel, 21 (88%) members cast votes in December 2015. Of those that cast votes, 21 approved the document (100%). The main comments from the Expert Panel and the Working Group's responses are summarized in Table 5-1.

Со	mments	Responses			
1.	Since the search date of this systematic review, two phase II randomized controlled trials have been published. One was the RTOG 0915 trial, which compared 48 in 4 with 34 in 1 for peripheral NSCLC. The second (in abstract form) was presented at IASLC WCLC 2016, the Scandinavian SPACE trial, which compared stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) (45/3) with conventional radiation therapy (RT) (70/35). The SPACE trial showed no difference in local control or survival but with better quality of life/convenience with SBRT. RTOG suggested a single fraction SBRT should be tested further.	The Working Group is aware of these trials. The results from these trials will not change the recommendations. The trials will be included in any future updates of this guideline.			
2.	I did not see NCIC BR.25 reported in this document, which showed that hypofractionated accelerated RT has fairly good local control at two years, similar to SBRT.	We did not include this trial because it did not have SBRT as one of the comparators.			
3.	I think that we should be clear that the biological effective dose (BED) question and the majority of the literature data are largely based on SBRT for peripherally located lung cancer. I think that while it has been written that dose-fractionation should be carefully considered in centrally located NSCLC, this should be clarified. First, it should be defined here what is centrally located disease (the Timmerman no-fly zone only, or including proximity to mediastinum, descending thoracic aorta, etc). Second, there have been recent abstracts/papers on central and ultra-central NSCLC where there have been some grade 5 toxicities. RTOG 0813 was	A definition for centrally located tumours has been added. The papers mentioned in the second comment are either an abstract or an ongoing trial and therefore their results have not been included.			

Table 5-1. Summary of the Working Group's responses to comments from the Expert Panel.

	recently presented at ASTRO and IASLC WCLC and there were not an insignificant number of grade 3 to 5 toxicities with 50 to 60 Gy in five fractions. LUNGtech (which you cited) has recently opened and will be the largest prospective trial of 60 Gy in 8 fractions for central tumours.	
4.	I think the document should be separated into peripheral and central NSCLC, and have a wider range of potential dose fractionations, particularly for central disease, including conventional fractionation schemes like 60 Gy in 15 fractions or lower dose/fraction.	The dose/fractionation schemes are only examples of possible schedules and are not an exhaustive list.
5.	The qualifying statement for recommendation 1 should include use of image-guided radiation therapy.	The Working Group believed that image guidance is part of SBRT and need not be specifically repeated. The words "during simulation and treatment delivery" were added to this qualifying statement to make it clearer.

#### RAP Review and Approval

Three RAP members, including the PEBC Director, reviewed this document in December 2015. The RAP conditionally approved the document on December 16, 2015. The main comments from the RAP and the Working Group's responses are summarized in Table 5-2.

Table 5-2. Summary	v of the Working	Group's res	ponses to con	nments from RAP.
Tuble 5 L. Summar		s or oup bres		

Comments	Responses
<ol> <li>It is unclear what the current standard was for these patients.</li> </ol>	In the past, observation and conventional radiotherapy were used. This has been made more explicit in the introduction.
<ol> <li>Why did the systematic review show more adverse events for the studies using SBRT whereas the comparative primary literature found the opposite?</li> </ol>	An explanation for the higher proportion of adverse events after SBRT found in the systematic review has been explained more thoroughly.
<ol> <li>In the objective statement, perhaps a term such as "value" or "effectiveness" rather than "role" should be used.</li> </ol>	This has been changed.
4. If conventional radiation should not be used for these patients, this should be stated.	There was not enough evidence to make this statement or to actually state that SBRT is the preferred option. SBRT is a reasonable option and should be considered.

#### EXTERNAL REVIEW

#### External Review by Ontario Clinicians and Other Experts

#### Targeted Peer Review

Seven targeted peer reviewers from Ontario who are considered to be clinical and/or methodological experts on the topic were identified by the Working Group. Four agreed to be the reviewers (Appendix 1). Four responses were received. Results of the feedback survey are summarized in Table 5-3. The comments from targeted peer reviewers and the Working Group's responses are summarized in Table 5-4.

#### Table 5-3. Responses to nine items on the targeted peer reviewer questionnaire.

	Reviewer Ratings (N=4)						
Question	Lowest Quality (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	Highest Quality (5)		
1. Rate the guideline development methods.	0	0	0	2	2		
2. Rate the guideline presentation.	0	0	0	3	1		
3. Rate the guideline recommendations.	0	0	2	1	1		
4. Rate the completeness of reporting.	0	0	2	0	2		
<ol> <li>Does this document provide sufficient information to inform your decisions? If not, what areas are missing?</li> </ol>	0	0	1	2	1		
6. Rate the overall quality of the guideline report.	0	0	1	1	2		
	Strongly Disagree (1)	(2)	Neutral (3)	(4)	Strongly Agree (5)		
<ol> <li>I would make use of this guideline in my professional decisions.</li> </ol>	0	0	0	2	2		
<ol> <li>I would recommend this guideline for use in practice.</li> </ol>	0	0	0	2	2		
9. What are the barriers or enablers to the implementation of this guideline report?	<ul> <li>This guideline needs to be disseminated to the intended audience or users.</li> <li>This guideline provides a good understanding of how to prescribe this therapy to patients.</li> <li>All Radiation Programs are not, as yet, equipped or positioned with the developed expertise to implement lung SBRT based on the guideline and should acquire that expertise in the setting of clinical trials using SBRT in order that a high level of quality assurance is used to move in this direction. Otherwise, patients who are candidates should be offered referral to Programs where lung SBRT has been adopted with acceptable quality assurance for planning and treatment delivery.</li> </ul>						

Table 5	5-4. Res	ponses to	comments	from targ	geted	peer	reviewers.
---------	----------	-----------	----------	-----------	-------	------	------------

Comments	Responses
1. Should the recommendation be more strongly worded towards SBRT being the preferred or recommended approach rather than "an option", especially for straightforward peripherally located tumours?	The Working Group believed this recommendation is strongly worded because the word "should" is used, rather than "may" be considered.
2. This guideline is also relevant to those patients who are operable, but refuse surgery, so somehow that should be incorporated too.	Patients who refuse surgery are included in the target population.
3. The comment in the recommendation stating that immobilization and four-dimensional analysis for planning and delivery is important	The qualifying statement was changed from, "Adequate immobilization of the patient and four- dimensional analysis of tumour and critical structure

might be better described as 'not only important, but mandatory'.	motion during simulation and treatment delivery are important." to "Consistent patient positioning and four-dimensional analysis of tumour and critical structure motion during simulation and treatment delivery are essential."
4. Currently the recommendations state that SBRT is an option and there is a suggested listing of fractionation schemes. It would have been great if other relevant recommendations were included such as what are the radiation treatment planning considerations that we should be mindful of, i.e., dose-volume histograms (DVHs) to review, the relevant DHV limits, and normal tissue low-dose considerations, etc. Along with that, recommendations on how best to manage side effects for this group with such an RT prescription should also be included. Adding these to the current recommendations would provide the user with a more fulsome picture of things to consider when faced with this population of patients.	This was outside the scope of this guideline.
5. In terms of comparative studies, Sunnybrook has just published a propensity score matched analysis, comparing SBRT versus accelerated hypofractionation in Radiotherapy and Oncology in 2016: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2679577</u> <u>3</u> . Should this be included in the guideline?	The Working Group is aware of this trial. The results from this trial will not change the recommendations. This trial will be included in any future updates of this guideline.
6. Comments on lack of data on functional outcomes and quality of life from studies reviewed would be worthwhile.	There is a lack of data on these outcomes and have not been included in our research questions.

## Professional Consultation

Feedback was obtained through a brief online survey of healthcare professionals and other stakeholders who are the intended users of the guideline. Any health-care provider with an interest in lung cancer in the PEBC database was contacted by email to inform them of the survey. One hundred two professionals who practice in Ontario and 19 who practice outside of Ontario were contacted. Twenty (17%) responses were received. Six stated that they did not have interest in this area or were unavailable to review this guideline at the time. The results of the feedback survey from 14 people are summarized in Table 5-5. The main comments from the consultation and the Working Group's responses are summarized in Table 5-6.

#### Table 5-5. Responses to four items on the professional consultation survey.

	Number (%)					
General Questions: Overall Guideline Assessment	Lowest Quality (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	Highest Quality (5)	
1. Rate the overall quality of the guideline report.	0	0	0	6 (43)	8 (57)	
	Strongly Disagree (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	Strongly Agree (5)	

2.	I would make use of this guideline in my professional decisions.		0	0	3 (21)	6 (43)	5 (36)
3.	I would recommend this guideline for use in practice.		0	0	1 (7)	4 (29)	9 (64)
4.	What are the barriers or enablers to the implementation of this guideline report?	• • •	The review comprehe It would b awareness guideline. The limita available are based The barrie availabilit expertise There see to warran further da assessing address th mentioned patients w participat anonymou	w is thor nsive. be helpfu s and ed ation rea source e upon. ers are p ty of the to offer ms to be t the co ta from patients ne evide d. My be vould be e if requ us basis.	rough an ul if ther ucation ally is the evidence orimarily technol SBRT. e sufficien moniton post tre nce gaps lief is the every with uested to	re were p for this e quality the guid related ogy and ent unce and anal ring and eatment, s that ar nat many lling to o do so c	oatient of the delines to the rtainty lysis of , to e , to e , to on an

# Table 5-6. Modifications/Actions taken/Responses regarding main written comments from professional consultants.

Comments	Responses	
1. There is no mention about what needs to be done to exclude N disease. Many of these patients are risk for invasive biopsies. Do they a tissue diagnosis? Do they invasive mediastinal staging computed tomography and emission tomography imagir acceptable in these medically patients?	staging or N2 at high require cquire Can ositron g be unfit	
2. It might be helpful if the recommendations were expliding discussing the other options for patients and how they compare other radiotherapy techniques). read this and see that SBRT is an but is it the preferred option? Is preferred option? Are there other of Some of this is captured in the or body of the report but I think i greater priority in the report.	op-line it in these (e.g., Ve can option, here a ptions? etailed needs	ough tion.
3. I was disappointed that the RTC looking at single fraction RT (34 ) was left out. I realize it was pu after the search date but it important trial.	G trial The Working Group is aware of this trial. The re y in 1) from this trial will not change the recommendat olished This trial will be included in any future updates o vas an guideline.	sults ions. f this

4.	The concept of not using regimens with a BED > 146 was a bit confusing. As you show in the document, there is tremendous experience with 54 Gy in 3 which falls into this category. Many of us use this dose/fractionation without any issues. Toxicity depends on the size of tumour and proximity to organs at risk such as chest wall.	This recommendation is based on the best available evidence. Future studies may provide more clarity on this issue.
5.	The comments mention the appropriateness of SBRT as an option but there is no discussion of the potential convenience for shorter treatment durations or of the potential advantages of scheduling shorter treatment course. Did any study report on patient satisfaction of resource utilization?	This was outside the scope of this guideline.

#### CONCLUSION

The final guideline recommendations contained in Section 2 and summarized in Section 1 reflect the integration of feedback obtained through the external review processes with the document as drafted by the GDG Working Group and approved by the GDG Expert Panel and the PEBC RAP.

## References

- Timmerman R, McGarry R, Yiannoutsos C, Papiez L, Tudor K, DeLuca J, et al. Excessive Toxicity When Treating Central Tumors in a Phase II Study of Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Medically Inoperable Early-Stage Lung Cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(30):4833-9.
- 2. Grutters JP, Kessels AG, Pijls-Johannesma M, De Ruysscher D, Joore MA, Lambin P. Comparison of the effectiveness of radiotherapy with photons, protons and carbon-ions for non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Radiother Oncol. 2010;95(1):32-40.
- 3. Borst GR, Ishikawa M, Nijkamp J, Hauptmann M, Shirato H, Onimaru R, et al. Radiation pneumonitis in patients treated for malignant pulmonary lesions with hypofractionated radiation therapy. Radiother Oncol. 2009;91(3):307-13.
- 4. Jeppesen SS, Schytte T, Jensen HR, Brink C, Hansen O. Stereotactic body radiation therapy versus conventional radiation therapy in patients with early stage non-small cell lung cancer: an updated retrospective study on local failure and survival rates. Acta Oncol. 2013;52(7):1552-8.
- 5. Koshy M, Malik R, Mahmood U, Husain Z, Sher DJ. Stereotactic body radiotherapy and treatment at a high volume facility is associated with improved survival in patients with inoperable stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2015;114(2):148-54.
- 6. Lanni TB, Jr., Grills IS, Kestin LL, Robertson JM. Stereotactic radiotherapy reduces treatment cost while improving overall survival and local control over standard fractionated radiation therapy for medically inoperable non-small-cell lung cancer. Am J Clin Oncol. 2011;34(5):494-8.
- 7. Lucas Jr JT, Kuremsky JG, Soike M, Hinson WW, Kearns WT, Hampton CJ, et al. Comparison of accelerated hypofractionation and stereotactic body radiotherapy for Stage 1 and node negative Stage 2 non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Lung Cancer. 2014;85(1):59-65.
- 8. Shirvani SM, Jiang J, Chang JY, Welsh JW, Gomez DR, Swisher S, et al. Comparative effectiveness of 5 treatment strategies for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer in the elderly. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84(5):1060-70.
- 9. Tong AN, Yan P, Yuan GH, Lv XY, Gong H, Zhao H, et al. Advantages of cyber knife for inoperable stage I peripheral non-small-cell lung cancer compared to three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy. Mol Clin Oncol. 2015;3(2):442-8.
- 10. Widder J, Postmus D, Ubbels JF, Wiegman EM, Langendijk JA. Survival and quality of life after stereotactic or 3D-conformal radiotherapy for inoperable early-stage lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;81(4):e291-7.
- 11. Davis JN, Medbery C, Sharma S, Perry D, Pablo J, D'Ambrosio DJ, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: clinical outcomes from a National Patient Registry. J Radiat Oncol. 2015;4(1):55-63.
- 12. Factor OB, Vu CC, Schneider JG, Witten MR, Schubach SL, Gittleman AE, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for stage I non-small cell lung cancer: A small academic hospital experience. Front Oncol. 2014;4(OCT).
- 13. Grills IS, Hope AJ, Guckenberger M, Kestin LL, Werner-Wasik M, Yan D, et al. A collaborative analysis of stereotactic lung radiotherapy outcomes for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer using daily online cone-beam computed tomography image-guided radiotherapy. J Thorac Oncol. 2012;7(9):1382-93.
- 14. Guckenberger M, Allgauer M, Appold S, Dieckmann K, Ernst I, Ganswindt U, et al. Safety and efficacy of stereotactic body radiotherapy for stage 1 non-small-cell lung cancer in routine clinical practice: a patterns-of-care and outcome analysis. J Thorac Oncol. 2013;8(8):1050-8.

- 15. Kestin L, Grills I, Guckenberger M, Belderbos J, Hope AJ, Werner-Wasik M, et al. Doseresponse relationship with clinical outcome for lung stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) delivered via online image guidance. Radiother Oncol. 2014;110(3):499-504.
- 16. Kohutek ZA, Wu AJ, Zhang Z, Foster A, Din SU, Yorke ED, et al. FDG-PET maximum standardized uptake value is prognostic for recurrence and survival after stereotactic body radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer. 2015;89(2):115-20.
- 17. Koshy M, Malik R, Weichselbaum RR, Sher DJ. Increasing radiation therapy dose is associated with improved survival in patients undergoing stereotactic body radiation therapy for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91(2):344-50.
- 18. Lee DS, Kim YS, Yoo IR, Kang YN, Kim SJ, Oh JK, et al. Long-term clinical experience of high-dose ablative lung radiotherapy: high pre-treatment [18F]Fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography maximal standardized uptake value of the primary tumor adversely affects treatment outcome. Lung Cancer. 2013;80(2):172-8.
- 19. Mak RH, Hermann G, Lewis JH, Aerts HJ, Baldini EH, Chen AB, et al. Outcomes by tumor histology and KRAS mutation status after lung stereotactic body radiation therapy for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer. 2015;16(1):24-32.
- 20. Onishi H, Shirato H, Nagata Y, Hiraoka M, Fujino M, Gomi K, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy (HypoFXSRT) for stage I non-small cell lung cancer: updated results of 257 patients in a Japanese multi-institutional study. J Thorac Oncol. 2007;2(7 Suppl 3):S94-100.
- 21. Ricardi U, Frezza G, Filippi AR, Badellino S, Levis M, Navarria P, et al. Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy for stage I histologically proven non-small cell lung cancer: an Italian multicenter observational study. Lung Cancer. 2014;84(3):248-53.
- 22. Suzuki O, Mitsuyoshi T, Miyazaki M, Teshima T, Nishiyama K, Ubbels JF, et al. Dosevolume-response analysis in stereotactic radiotherapy for early lung cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2014;112(2):262-6.
- 23. Zhang J, Yang F, Li B, Li H, Liu J, Huang W, et al. Which is the optimal biologically effective dose of stereotactic body radiotherapy for Stage I non-small-cell lung cancer? A meta-analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;81(4):e305-16.
- 24. Park HS, Harder EM, Mancini BR, Decker RH. Central versus peripheral tumor location: influence on survival, local control, and toxicity following stereotactic body radiotherapy for primary non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2015;10(5):832-7.
- 25. Chi A, Wen S, Liao Z, Fowler J, Xu J, Nguyen NP, et al. What would be the most appropriate alpha/beta ratio in the setting of stereotactic body radiation therapy for early stage non-small cell lung cancer. BioMed Res Int. 2013;2013:391021.
- 26. Kong C, Guo WJ, Zha WW, Zhu XZ, Huang SF, Zhang YW, et al. A new index comparable to BED for evaluating the biological efficacy of hypofractionated radiotherapy schemes on early stage non-small cell lung cancer: analysis of data from the literature. Lung Cancer. 2014;84(1):7-12.
- 27. Song CW, Cho LC, Yuan J, Dusenbery KE, Griffin RJ, Levitt SH. Radiobiology of stereotactic body radiation therapy/stereotactic radiosurgery and the linear-quadratic model. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87(1):18-9.
- 28. Browman GP, Newman TE, Mohide EA, Graham ID, Levine MN, Pritchard KI, et al. Progress of clinical oncology guidelines development using the Practice Guidelines Development Cycle: the role of practitioner feedback. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16(3):1226-31.
- 29. Browman GP, Levine MN, Mohide EA, Hayward RS, Pritchard KI, Gafni A, et al. The practice guidelines development cycle: a conceptual tool for practice guidelines development and implementation. J Clin Oncol. 1995;13(2):502-12.

- 30. Brouwers MC, Kho ME, Browman GP, Burgers JS, Cluzeau F, Feder G, et al. AGREE II: advancing guideline development, reporting and evaluation in health care. CMAJ. 2010;182(18):E839-42.
- 31. The ADAPTE Collaboration. The ADAPTE Process: Resource Toolkit for Guideline Adaptation. Version 2.0. 2009. Available from: <u>http://www.g-i-n.net</u>.
- 32. Ettinger DS, Akerley W, Borghaei H, Chang AC, Cheney RT, Chirieac LR, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer, version 2.2013: Featured updates to the NCCN guidelines. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2013;11(6):645-53.
- 33. Crino L, Weder W, van Meerbeeck J, Felip E. Early stage and locally advanced (nonmetastatic) non-small-cell lung cancer: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Annals of Oncology. 2010;21(SUPPL. 5):v103-v15.
- 34. Non-small cell lung cancer. Alberta Health Services. 2013 accessed here: <u>http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/info/hp/cancer/if-hp-cancer-guide-lu001-nsclc-stage1.pdf</u>.
- 35. Lung cancer: diagnosis and management. 2011. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Accessed here; http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/13465/54202/54202.pdf.
- 36. National Cancer Institute of Canada. Canadian cancer statistics 2001 [Internet]. Toronto: National Cancer Institute of Canada; 2001 [cited 2015 Oct 16]. Available from <u>http://www.cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/cancer-101/canadian-cancer-statistics-publication/?region=on.</u>
- 37. Cancercare.on.ca. [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario (CCO); 2011 [cited 2015 Oct 16]. Available from: https://www.cancercare.on.ca/.
- 38. McGarry RC, Song G, des Rosiers P, Timmerman R. Observation-only management of early stage, medically inoperable lung cancer: poor outcome. Chest. 2002;121(4):1155-8.
- 39. Timmerman R, Paulus R, Galvin J, Michalski J, Straube W, Bradley J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for inoperable early stage lung cancer. JAMA. 2010;303(11):1070-6.
- 40. Dosoretz DE, Katin MJ, Blitzer PH, Rubenstein JH, Galmarini DH, Garton GR, et al. Medically inoperable lung carcinoma: the role of radiation therapy. Semin Radiat Oncol. 1996;6(2):98-104.
- 41. Shea BJ, Grimshaw JM, Wells GA, Boers M, Andersson N, Hamel C, et al. Development of AMSTAR: a measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2007;7:10.
- 42. Sterne JAC, Higgins JPT, Reeves BC on behalf of the development group for ACROBAT-NRSI. A Cochrane risk assessment tool: for non-randomized of interventions (ACROBAT-NRSI), Version 1.0.0, 24 September 2014 [cited: 2015 October 19]. Available from http://www.riskofbias.info.
- 43. Bi N, Shedden K, Zheng X, Wang W, Kong F. Comparison of the effectiveness of radiofrequency ablation with stereotactic body radiation therapy in inoperable stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer: a systemic review and meta-analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;1:S611-S2.
- 44. Bilal H, Mahmood S, Rajashanker B, Shah R. Is radiofrequency ablation more effective than stereotactic ablative radiotherapy in patients with early stage medically inoperable non-small cell lung cancer? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2012;15(2):258-65.
- 45. Boily G, Filion E, Rakovich G, Kopek N, Tremblay L, Samson B, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiation therapy for the treatment of early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: CEPO review and recommendations. J Thorac Oncol. 2015;10(6):872-82.
- 46. Chi A, Liao Z, Nguyen NP, Xu J, Stea B, Komaki R. Systemic review of the patterns of failure following stereotactic body radiation therapy in early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: clinical implications. Radiother Oncol. 2010;94(1):1-11.

- 47. Lee P, King CR, Agazaryan N, Steinberg ML, Hua AP, Mehta N. Curative radiotherapy for stage I non-small cell lung cancer: is there evidence for further dose escalation? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;1):S180.
- 48. Lo SS, Sahgal A, Chang EL, Mayr NA, Teh BS, Huang Z, et al. Serious complications associated with stereotactic ablative radiotherapy and strategies to mitigate the risk. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2013;25(6):378-87.
- 49. Sapkaroski D, Osborne C, Knight KA. A review of stereotactic body radiotherapy is volumetric modulated arc therapy the answer? J Med Radiat Sci. 2015;62(2):142-51.
- 50. Senthi S, Haasbeek CJ, Slotman BJ, Senan S. Outcomes of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for central lung tumours: a systematic review. Radiother Oncol. 2013;106(3):276-82.
- 51. van Baardwijk A, Tome WA, van Elmpt W, Bentzen SM, Reymen B, Wanders R, et al. Is high-dose stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) overkill? A systematic review. Radiother Oncol. 2012;105(2):145-9.
- 52. Allibhai Z, Taremi M, Bezjak A, Brade A, Hope AJ, Sun A, et al. The impact of tumor size on outcomes after stereotactic body radiation therapy for medically inoperable early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87(5):1064-70.
- 53. Barriger RB, Forquer JA, Brabham JG, Andolino DL, Shapiro RH, Henderson MA, et al. A dose-volume analysis of radiation pneumonitis in non-small cell lung cancer patients treated with stereotactic body radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(1):457-62.
- 54. Baumann P, Nyman J, Lax I, Friesland S, Hoyer M, Rehn Ericsson S, et al. Factors important for efficacy of stereotactic body radiotherapy of medically inoperable stage I lung cancer. A retrospective analysis of patients treated in the Nordic countries. Acta Oncol. 2006;45(7):787-95.
- 55. Bongers EM, Haasbeek CJA, Lagerwaard FJ, Slotman BJ, Senan S. Incidence and risk factors for chest wall toxicity after risk-adapted stereotactic radiotherapy for early-stage lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2011;6(12):2052-7.
- 56. Bradley JD, El Naqa I, Drzymala RE, Trovo M, Jones G, Denning MD. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: the pattern of failure is distant. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;77(4):1146-50.
- 57. Chang JY, Li Q-Q, Xu Q-Y, Allen PK, Rebueno N, Gomez DR, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiation therapy for centrally located early stage or isolated parenchymal recurrences of non-small cell lung cancer: how to fly in a "no fly zone". Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;88(5):1120-8.
- 58. Chang JY, Liu H, Balter P, Komaki R, Liao Z, Welsh J, et al. Clinical outcome and predictors of survival and pneumonitis after stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2012;7:152.
- 59. Fischer-Valuck BW, Durci M, Katz SR, Wu HT, Syh J, Patel B, et al. Influence of patient characteristics on survival following treatment with helical stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) in stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Thorac Cancer. 2013;4(1):27-34.
- 60. Guckenberger M, Klement RJ, Kestin LL, Hope AJ, Belderbos J, Werner-Wasik M, et al. Lack of a dose-effect relationship for pulmonary function changes after stereotactic body radiation therapy for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;85(4):1074-81.
- 61. Hayashi S, Tanaka H, Kajiura Y, Ohno Y, Hoshi H. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for very elderly patients (age, greater than or equal to 85 years) with stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:138.
- 62. Hoppe BS, Laser B, Kowalski AV, Fontenla SC, Pena-Greenberg E, Yorke ED, et al. Acute skin toxicity following stereotactic body radiation therapy for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: who's at risk? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72(5):1283-6.

- 63. Inoue T, Katoh N, Onimaru R, Shimizu S, Tsuchiya K, Suzuki R, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy using gated radiotherapy with real-time tumor-tracking for stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:69.
- 64. Kelley KD, Benninghoff DL, Stein JS, Li JZ, Byrnes RT, Potters L, et al. Medically inoperable peripheral lung cancer treated with stereotactic body radiation therapy. Radiat Oncol. 2015;10:120.
- 65. Kopek N, Paludan M, Petersen J, Hansen AT, Grau C, Hoyer M. Co-morbidity index predicts for mortality after stereotactic body radiotherapy for medically inoperable early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2009;93(3):402-7.
- 66. Lagerwaard FJ, Haasbeek CJA, Smit EF, Slotman BJ, Senan S. Outcomes of risk-adapted fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;70(3):685-92.
- 67. Marwaha G, Stephans KL, Woody NM, Reddy CA, Videtic GM. Lung stereotactic body radiation therapy: regional nodal failure is not predicted by tumor size. J Thorac Oncol. 2014;9(11):1693-7.
- 68. Matsuo Y, Shibuya K, Nakamura M, Narabayashi M, Sakanaka K, Ueki N, et al. Dose--volume metrics associated with radiation pneumonitis after stereotactic body radiation therapy for lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;83(4):e545-9.
- 69. Mutter RW, Liu F, Abreu A, Yorke E, Jackson A, Rosenzweig KE. Dose-volume parameters predict for the development of chest wall pain after stereotactic body radiation for lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(5):1783-90.
- 70. Olsen JR, Robinson CG, El Naqa I, Creach KM, Drzymala RE, Bloch C, et al. Dose-response for stereotactic body radiotherapy in early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;81(4):e299-303.
- 71. Rosen LR, Fischer-Valuck BW, Katz SR, Durci M, Wu HT, Syh J, et al. Helical imageguided stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for the treatment of earlystage lung cancer: a single-institution experience at the Willis-Knighton Cancer Center. Tumori. 2014;100(1):42-8.
- 72. Satoh Y, Onishi H, Nambu A, Araki T. Volume-based parameters measured by using FDG PET/CT in patients with stage I NSCLC treated with stereotactic body radiation therapy: prognostic value. Radiology. 2014;270(1):275-81.
- 73. Schanne DH, Nestle U, Allgauer M, Andratschke N, Appold S, Dieckmann U, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for centrally located stage I NSCLC: a multicenter analysis. Strahlenther Onkol. 2015;[et al]. 191(2):125-32.
- 74. Shibamoto Y, Hashizume C, Baba F, Ayakawa S, Manabe Y, Nagai A, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy using a radiobiology-based regimen for stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer: a multicenter study. Cancer. 2012;118(8):2078-84.
- 75. Shirata Y, Jingu K, Koto M, Kubozono M, Takeda K, Sugawara T, et al. Prognostic factors for local control of stage I non-small cell lung cancer in stereotactic radiotherapy: a retrospective analysis. Radiat Oncol. 2012;7:182.
- 76. Shultz DB, Trakul N, Abelson JA, Murphy JD, Maxim PG, Le QT, et al. Imaging features associated with disease progression after stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer. 2014;15(4):294-301.
- 77. Sibley GS, Jamieson TA, Marks LB, Anscher MS, Prosnitz LR. Radiotherapy alone for medically inoperable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: the duke experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1998;40(1):149-54.
- 78. Stanic S, Paulus R, Timmerman RD, Michalski JM, Barriger RB, Bezjak A, et al. No clinically significant changes in pulmonary function following stereotactic body radiation therapy for early- stage peripheral non-small cell lung cancer: an analysis of RTOG 0236. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;88(5):1092-9.

- 79. Stephans KL, Djemil T, Reddy CA, Gajdos SM, Kolar M, Mason D, et al. A comparison of two stereotactic body radiation fractionation schedules for medically inoperable stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer: the Cleveland Clinic experience. Journal of Thoracic Oncology: Official Publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer. 2009;4(8):976-82.
- 80. Taremi M, Hope A, Dahele M, Pearson S, Fung S, Purdie T, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for medically inoperable lung cancer: prospective, single-center study of 108 consecutive patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(2):967-73.
- 81. Ueki N, Matsuo Y, Togashi Y, Kubo T, Shibuya K, Iizuka Y, et al. Impact of pretreatment interstitial lung disease on radiation pneumonitis and survival after stereotactic body radiation therapy for lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2015;10(1):116-25.
- 82. Videtic GM, Stephans KL, Woody NM, Reddy CA, Zhuang T, Magnelli A, et al. 30 Gy or 34 Gy? Comparing 2 single-fraction SBRT dose schedules for stage I medically inoperable non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;90(1):203-8.
- 83. Woody NM, Videtic GM, Stephans KL, Djemil T, Kim Y, Xia P. Predicting chest wall pain from lung stereotactic body radiotherapy for different fractionation schemes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;83(1):427-34.
- 84. Creach KM, El Naqa I, Bradley JD, Olsen JR, Parikh PJ, Drzymala RE, et al. Dosimetric predictors of chest wall pain after lung stereotactic body radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol. 2012;104(1):23-7.
- 85. Braunstein SE, Descovich M, Johnson JA, Pinnaduwage D, Gottschalk A, Yom SS. Effect of stereotactic tracking method on local control in early stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;1:S19.
- 86. Chiang AS, Thibault I, Rodrigues G, Palma D, Warner A, Poon I, et al. Accelerated hypofractionation versus stereotactic ablative radiation therapy (SABR) for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: results of a propensity score matched analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;1):S159-S60.
- 87. Grills IS, Mangona VS, Hope A, Belderbos J, Werner-Wasik M, Sonke JJ, et al. Recurrence, survival, and toxicity after stereotactic lung radiotherapy (SBRT) for central versus peripheral stage i non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): results from an international collaborative research group. J Thorac Oncol. 2013;8:S359-S60.
- 88. Harada H, Murayama S, Fuji H, Yamashita H, Konno M, Kase Y, et al. Clinical comparison of proton beam therapy and stereotactic body radiation therapy for medically inoperable stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;1:S573-S4.
- 89. Heinzerling JH, McCammon RJ, Prabhu RS, Moeller BJ, Burri SH, Sharp HJ, et al. Stereotactic ablative body radiosurgery (SABR) in early-stage lung cancer: can results of advanced cancer care in an innovative de-centralized cancer institute replicate favorable clinical trial results? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;1):S613-S4.
- 90. Jeppesen SS, Schytte T, Brink C, Hansen NCG, Hansen O. A comparison of stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) versus no treatment in medically inoperable patients with early-stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;1:S642.
- 91. Kerba M, Gabos Z, Ghosh S, Liu H, Lau HY, Roberts B. Outcomes in stage I non-small cell lung cancer following the introduction of stereotactic body radiotherapy in Alberta, Canada. J Clin Oncol. 2014;1.
- 92. Kotinsley KA, Kotinsley BM, Mueller J, Gayou O, Werts E, Colonias A. Assessing radiographic response and failure patterns following stereotactic body radiation (SBRT) for high risk/medically inoperable stage I non small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC). J Thorac Oncol. 2012;4):S264.

- 93. Masciullo S, Casamassima F, Menichelli C, Bonucci I, Masi L, Doro R. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for inoperable NSCLC with stage I-II: A mono-institutional retrospective study. Radiother Oncol. 2011;99:S346.
- 94. Mislmani M, Grills IS, Robertson JM, Ye H, McInerney E, Martin S, et al. Stereotactic lung radiotherapy (SBRT) associated with improved local control compared to 3-dimensional conformal radiotherapy (3dCRT) for stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;1:S512-S3.
- 95. Mou B, Merrell KW, Owen DA, Nelson K, Garces YI, Olivier KR. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer patients with central lung tumors: an analysis of outcomes and toxicity. Oncology. 2014;28 (1S).
- 96. Nyman J, Hallqvist A, Lund JA, Brustugun OT, Bergstrom P, Friesland S, et al. SPACE-A randomized study of SBRT vs conventional fractionated radiotherapy in medically inoperable stage I NSCLC. Radiother Oncol. 2014;111:S221.
- 97. Park HS, Harder E, Mancini BR, Decker RH. Does central vs. peripheral tumor location impact outcomes following stereotactic body radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;1:S28-S9.
- 98. Shaikh F, Foster A, Zhang Z, Woo K, Din SU, Gelblum D, et al. Comparing patterns of recurrence and survival in conventionally fractionated radiation with stereotactic body radiation therapy for early-stage NSCLC. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;1:S12.
- 99. Simone CB, Heskel M, Xanthopoulos EP, Corradetti MN, Singhal S, Friedberg JS, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): outcomes by fractionation, tumor stage and location, and patient operability. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;1:S14.
- 100. Soda I, Hayakawa K, Ishiyama H, Katagiri M, Komori S, Sekiguchi A, et al. Outcomes and prognostic factors of stage I non-small cell lung cancer patients treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy or 3-dimentional conformal radiotherapy. J Thorac Oncol. 2013;8:S533.
- 101. Sonke J, Scheenstra A, Grills I, Hope AJ, Guckenberger M, Werner-Wasik M, et al. NTCP modeling for radiation pneumonitis after SBRT for malignant pulmonary lesions: results of a multi-institutional analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;1:S28-S9.
- 102. Stam B, Scheenstra A, Belderbos J, Peulen H, Nijkamp J, Sonke JJ. Dose-response analysis of radiation induced rib fractures after SBRT for NSCLC. J Thorac Oncol. 2013;8:S172-S3.
- 103. Stephans K, Woody NM, Reddy CA, Magnelli A, Zhaung T, Djemil T. Time will tell: is 60 gy in 3 fractions the optimal SBRT schedule for stage i non-small cell lung cancer? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;1:S28.
- 104. Videtic GM, Reddy C, Woody N, Marwaha G, Djemil T, Stephans K. Mature experience in stereotactic body radiation therapy for early stage medically inoperable lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;1:S561-S2.
- 105. Potters L, Kavanagh B, Galvin JM, Hevezi JM, Janjan NA, Larson DA, et al. American Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology (ASTRO) and American College of Radiology (ACR) practice guideline for the performance of stereotactic body radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;76(2):326-32.

#### Appendix 1: Affiliations and Conflict of Interest Declarations.

In accordance with the <u>PEBC Conflict of Interest (COI) Policy</u>, the Members of the Radiation with Curative Intent in Medically Inoperable Patients with Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Working Group, Expert Panel, Report Approval Panel and Target Peer Reviewers were asked to disclose potential conflicts of interest.

Name and Affiliation Declarations of interest
---

Working Group	
Conrad Falkson	None declared
Radiation Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Emily Vella	None declared
Health Research Methodologist	
Program in Evidence-Based Care,	
Cancer Care Ontario, Hamilton, ON	
Edward Yu	None declared
Radiation Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Medhat El-Mallah	None declared
Radiation Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Yee Ung	None declared
Radiation Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Peter Ellis	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Robert Mackenzie	None declared
Health Research Methodologist	
Program in Evidence-Based Care,	
Cancer Care Untario, Hamilton, UN	4 Decel
Advice Chan	None declared
Adrien Chan Medical Opcologist	None declared
Medical Officiologist	
Susanna Chong	None declared
Medical Oncologist	None declared
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Ronald Feld	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
John Goffin	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Richard Gregg	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Swati Kulkarni	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Sara Kuruvilla	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Scott Laurie	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	

Natasha Leighl	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Andrew Robinson	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Mark Vincent	• Has received \$5,000 or more in a single year as
Medical Oncologist	a consultant for Eli Lilly, Roche, Boehringer
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	Ingelheim, Astra Zeneca
	• Has received research support as a principal or
	co-investigator from Roche Canada
Penny Bradbury	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Robert MacRae	None declared
Radiation Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Andrew Pearce	None declared
Radiation Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Kevin Ramchandar	None declared
Radiation Oncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Anand Swaminath	None declared
Radiation Uncologist	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	Nexe deeleyed
Rediction Opeologist	None declared
Lung Cancor Disease Site Group	
Alexander Sun	None declared
Radiation Oncologist	None declared
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Abdollah Behzadi	None declared
Surgeon	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Donald Jones	None declared
Surgeon	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Richard Malthaner	None declared
Surgeon	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Donna Maziak	None declared
Surgeon	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Kazuhiro Yasufuku	None declared
Surgeon	
Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Robert Zeldin	None declared
Surgeon	

Lung Cancer Disease Site Group	
Report Approval Panel	-
Melissa Brouwers	None declared
Director	
Program in Evidence-Based Care,	
Cancer Care Ontario, Hamilton, ON	
Marko Simunovic	None declared
Surgeon	
Juravinski Cancer Centre	
Eric Winquist	None declared
Medical Oncologist	
London Regional Cancer Program	
London Health Sciences Centre	
Target Peer Reviewers	
Patrick Cheung	As the president of his medical corporation, he bills
Radiation Oncologist	OHIP for all medical services, including
Sunnybrook Odette Cancer Centre	radiotherapy treatment planning/delivery for early
• · · · · ·	stage lung cancer
Gunita Mitera	None declared
Departments of Radiation Therapy and	
Radiation Oncology	
Sunnybrook Odette Cancer Centre	
University of Toronto	
Gordon Okawara	None declared
Radiation Oncologist	
Hamilton Health Sciences	
Juravinski Cancer Centre	
Kenneth Schneider	None declared
Radiation Oncologist	
Windsor Regional Cancer Centre	

## Appendix 2: Literature Search Strategy

#### Ovid EMBASE (1985 to 2014 Week 19)

- 1. exp lung tumour/ or lung non small cell cancer/
- 2. nsclc.ti,ab.
- 3. (lung and (cancer\$ or neoplasm\$ or carcinoma\$ or malignan\$ or tumo?r\$)).ti,ab.
- 4. Or/1-3
- 5. Inoperable cancer/
- 6. Early cancer/
- 7. (inoperable or early stage\$).mp.
- 8. (stage adj2 (I or la or lb or II or IIa or Ilb or "1" or 1a or 1b or "2" or 2a or 2b)).ti,ab.
- 9. Or/5-8
- 10. Exp cancer radiotherapy/
- 11. Exp radiotherapy/
- 12. \*lung non small cell cancer/rt
- 13. dose fractionation.ti,ab.
- 14. Radiotherapy.ti,ab.
- 15. Stereotactic.ti,ab.
- 16. Sbrt or sabr.ti,ab.
- 17. Hypofraction:.ti,ab.
- 18. Radiation therapy.ti,ab.
- 19. Or/10-18
- 20. 4 and 9 and 19
- 21. (editorial or note or letter or erratum or short survey).pt. or letter/
- 22. 20 not 21
- 23. limit 22 to English language

Ovid MEDLINE (1985 to April Week 5, 2014), MEDLINE In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations (May 12, 2014), MEDLINE Daily Update (May 12, 2014), Cochrane Databases of Systematic Reviews (CDSR: March 2014), Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CCTR: April 2014), Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE: 1<sup>st</sup> quarter 2014)

- 1. exp lung neoplasm/ or carcinoma, non-small-cell lung/
- 2. nsclc.ti,ab.
- 3. (lung and (cancer\$ or neoplasm\$ or carcinom\$ or malignan\$ or tumo?r\$)).ti,ab.
- 4. Or/1-3
- 5. (inoperable or early stage\$).mp.
- 6. (stage adj2 (I or la or lc or II or Ila or Ilb or "1" or 1a or 1b or "2" or 2a or 2b)).ti,ab.
- 7. 5 or 6
- 8. exp radiotherapy/
- 9. exp dose fractionation/
- 10. carcinoma, non-small-cell lung/rt
- 11. exp radiation dosage/
- 12. dose fractionation.ti,ab.
- 13. Radiotherapy.ti,ab.
- 14. Stereotactic.ti,ab.
- 15. Sbrt or sabr.ti,ab.
- 16. Hypofraction:.ti,ab.
- 17. Radiation therapy.ti,ab.

- 18. Or/8-17
- 19. 4 and 7 and 18
- 20. (comment or letter or editorial or note or erratum or short survey or news or newspaper article or patient education handout or case report or historical article).pt.
- 21.19 not 20
- 22. limit 21 to English language
- 23. animal/
- 24. human/
- 25. 23 not 24
- 26. 22 not 25

## Appendix 3: PRISMA Flow Diagram



# Appendix 4. Quality of Included Studies

Study	Bias due to confounding	Bias in selection of participants into the study	Bias in measurement of interventions	Bias due to departures from intended interventions	Bias due to missing data	Bias in measurement of outcomes	Bias in selection of the reported result	Overall
TECHNIQUE	Contraction	Marda and a setal.	At a dama ta miata	1		Marken de la contra contra	Contant state	Contraction
Borst 2009 [3]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	NO information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Jeppesen 2013 [4]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Koshy 2015 [5]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Lanni 2011 [6]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Lucas 2014 [7]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Shirvani 2012 [8]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Tong 2015 [9]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Widder 2011 [10]	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
DOSE								
Allibhai 2013 [52]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Low risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Moderate risk	Serious risk
Barriger 2012 [53]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk

## Risk of bias judgements for eligible non-randomized studies by the Cochrane Collaboration Tool.

Baumann 2006 [54]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Bongers 2011 [55]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Bradley 2010 [56]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk
Chang 2014 [57]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Chang 2012 [58]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Davis 2015 [11]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Factor 2014 [12]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Fischer-Valuck 2013 [59]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Grills 2012 [13]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Guckenberger 2013 [14]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Guckenberger 2013 [60]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Hayashi 2014 [61]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Hoppe 2008 [62]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Inoue 2013 [63]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Kelley 2015 [64]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk

Kestin 2014 [15]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low rik	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Kohutek 2015 [16]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Kopek 2009 [65]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Koshy 2015 [17]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Lagerwaard 2008 [66]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Lee 2013 [18]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Mak 2015 [19]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Marwaha 2014 [67]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Matsuo 2012 [68]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Mutter 2012 [69]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Olsen 2011 [70]	Serious risk	Serious risk				Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	
Onishi 2007 [20]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Ricardi 2014 [21]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Rosen 2014 [71]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Satoh 2014 [72]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Schanne 2015 [73]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Shibamoto 2012 [74]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Low risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Serious risk
Shirata 2012 [75]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk

Shultz 2014 [76]	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Sibley 1998 [77]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Serious risk	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Stanic 2014 [78]	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Stephans 2009 [79]	Moderate risk for chest wall toxicity; serious risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Suzuki 2014 [22]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Taremi 2012 [80]	Serious risk	Serious risk	Low risk	Serious risk	No information	Low risk	Moderate risk	Serious risk
Ueki 2015 [81]	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk
Videtic 2014 [82]	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	No information	Low risk for OS; moderate risk for other outcomes	Serious risk	Serious risk
Woody 2012 [83]	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Moderate risk	Low risk	Moderate risk	Moderate risk	Serious risk	Serious risk

Abbreviations: OS, overall survival